

The Department of Children and Families

Early Childhood Practice Guide for Children Aged Zero to Five

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Title	Page
Introduction	3
Very Young Children in Child Welfare	4
Understanding the Importance of Attachment in Early Years	4
The Impact of Trauma on Early Childhood Development	10
Child Development	14
Social and Emotional Milestones (Charts)	17
Assessing Safety and Risk for Children 0-5 – Intake and Ongoing Services	26
Quality Early Education and Care	38
Parents with Disabilities	39
Parents Who were in DCF Care as Children	43
Early Childhood – Adolescent Services	45
Visitation	46
The Role of Supervision in Early Childhood (Ages zero to five)	48
Consults	50
Foster Care: Focusing on Children Entering and In-Care-Birth to Age 5	51
DCF's Teaming Continuum	53
Appendices	55

Appendices Index	Page
Introduction	56
The Impact of Trauma on Early Childhood Development	57
Child Development	61
Developmental Milestones	65
Attachment	70
Resources – Children's Social and Emotional Competence	74
Cultural Considerations	75
Assessing Home Environment	76
Assessing Parenting and Parent/Child Relationship	78
Assessing Parental Capacity	78
Assessment of the Parent's Perception of Child	79
Failure To Thrive	80
Abusive Head Trauma (Shaken Baby)	80
Foster Care	81
Fatherhood Initiative Programs at CJTS	82
Resources by Region (Separate Document)	See "Resources"

April 1, 2016 (New) 2 | Page

INTRODUCTION

The Department of Children and Families supports healthy relationships, promotes safe and healthy environments and assures that the social and emotional needs of all children are met. The 0-5 population comprises a third of our overall caseload and we know by virtue of age, they are among the most vulnerable in our society. The work we do with young children and their families early on sets the stage for their future success. The intent of the Early Childhood Practice Guide is to provide a framework and important information to support child welfare staff in their work with young children and their families. In the past few decades, there has been overwhelming research that highlights the significance of the first years of development and the impact of early adversity on long-term health outcomes. The Early Childhood Practice Guide is designed to inform child welfare staff of this research and articulate the practical application of that research and knowledge in direct service with young children and families.

This Practice Guide is designed to build upon the many strengths of our practice and provide further guidance and information that support comprehensive assessments and engagement with families and our community partners. The Early Childhood Practice Guide and Appendices provide tools, resources, and information that address essential areas of our work, including developmental milestones (incorporating social and emotional development), understanding the importance of attachment, the impact of trauma, assessing safety and risk, and the role and importance of supervision in our work with families with young children.

April 1, 2016 (New) 3 | Page

VERY YOUNG CHILDREN IN CHILD WELFARE

Children's early experiences can have a profound impact on their development and well-being now and later in life. Research on the developing brain clearly demonstrates that these early experiences are incredibly powerful. During the earliest years of life—the first five years—the brain is more easily impacted by outside experiences than at any other stage of life. The developing brain is shaped in very important ways by these experiences. Positive experiences, such as loving attention, calm routines, sights, sounds and other sensory experiences that are varied but not over-stimulating, can directly impact the brain's architecture.

Because the brain is so sensitive during this early stage, however, extremely stressful or traumatic experiences can also have powerful repercussions. Almost 200,000 children in the US under the age of 3 come into contact with the child welfare system every year. This population also has the highest rate of child fatalities. For young

children, this threat arises at a crucial time in life, when early experiences are shaping the brain's architecture into a foundation for learning, health, and future success.

The traumatic experiences that bring children into our care (e.g., physical and sexual abuse or severe neglect) affect the basic foundation of the developing brain. Such experiences make it more difficult for a child to develop the cognitive, emotional and sensorimotor skills they will need to meet life's challenges. Research suggests that the more harm-

One of the most important influences on a young child's growth and development is his/her relationship with a caring and nurturing adult beginning at birth. This relationship is the basis for an infant's ability to form a secure attachment, which sets the stage for their cognitive, social, and emotional development.

ful experiences a child is exposed to, the more likely the child is to have difficulty with social and emotional functioning, exhibit cognitive problems and fall behind in school.¹

This early stage in life is also unique because the well-being of a young child is particularly shaped by the relationship the child has with his or her primary caregiver. The quality of interactions between the caregiver and child shapes the child's developing brain and creates the context through which learning occurs.

Trauma in early childhood—particularly trauma that impacts the relationship between caregiver and child—can have a cascading effect on a child's well-being. Not only can the brain be shaped by experiences of neglect and/or abuse at the hands of the caregiver, but these experiences also leave the child with the message that adults cannot be trusted.

Research has found that children who have insecure relationships with their primary caregivers are more likely to struggle both academically and in developing healthy relationships with others. Children who develop insecure attachments to their caregivers are also at increased risk for mental health problems like depression and

April 1, 2016 (New) 4 | Page

¹ Center on the Developing Child, Harvard University. *InBrief- The Impact Of Early Adversity On Children's Development*.

anxiety.² A growing body of research has shown that adverse environments and experiences place young children at risk for limited language and cognitive skills, difficulties interacting effectively with their peers, insecure attachments, developmental delays, behavioral and mental health problems, and an array of health problems and conditions (*e.g.*, lung disease, cancer, depression, or alcoholism) later in life.

Working with very young children can be especially challenging since they often have not yet developed the skills to tell you what has happened to them, what they are feeling, or what they need. An important part of your role as a CPS worker is to learn to interpret children's expressions, body language, behavior, and emotions so that you can make sure they get the help and support they need to thrive.

April 1, 2016 (New) 5 | Page

² Jakobsen, I.S., Horwood, L.J., & Fergusson, D.M. (2012). Childhood Anxiety/Withdrawal, Adolescent Parent-Child Attachment and Later Risk of Depression and Anxiety Disorder. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 21(2).

UNDERSTANDING THE IMPORTANCE OF ATTACHMENT IN THE EARLY YEARS

A young child's connection and bonding experience are formative in the early years. Relationships matter...and in order to understand a child, we must be willing to explore and understand the relationship between a parent/caregiver and child.

The first years of life are almost entirely about building trust and security. The quality of the parent/child rela-

tionship creates a foundation for a child's future development. Young children, through physical and emotional contact and interaction, create and sustain attachments.

The quality of the attachment is one of the strongest predictors of later development.

Understanding the attachment patterns and the outcomes for young children has great implications for child welfare practice

in regards to planning transitions, placement of children in care, the reunification process, observation of parent/caregiver child interactions, and ultimately our case planning decisions. These decisions must support and promote nurturing and stable relationships in the lives of infants, toddlers, and preschoolers if we hope to achieve improved outcomes for the children and families we serve.

Attachment research tells us the quality of the parent/child relationship can be captured in two major categories:

- Secure Attachment = healthy relationships
- Insecure Attachment = disrupted relationships

SECURE ATTACHMENT – HEALTHY RELATIONSHIPS

A **secure attachment** is characterized by the child's ability to use his or her parent as a source of comfort and a "secure base" from which to explore. A key principle of attachment theory is that dependence leads to independence. In other words, it is only when a child feels confident in his parent's availability that he can fully explore and play on his own.

Many research studies have shown that sensitive, responsive parenting promotes secure attachment.

When a parent/caregiver responds sensitively and consistently to a child's needs, the child is able to:

- Gain confidence that his or her needs will be recognized and responded to
- Develop healthy relationships
- Regulate or manage his or her emotions
- More easily comfort him- or herself
- Feel safe exploring the world around him or her
- Cooperate with and help others
- View him- or herself and others positively

What do healthy toddler and young child behaviors look like with secure attachments?:

Interested and confident to explore in the presence of an attachment figure

April 1, 2016 (New) 6 | Page

- When hurt, going to an attachment figure for comfort (i.e., not a stranger)
- · Seeking help when needed
- Willingness to comply with requests with minimal conflict
- No pattern of controlling or directing the behavior of caregivers (no role reversal)

What do healthy parental behaviors look like with secure attachments?:

- Sensitive and responsive care
- Clear, consistent, developmentally appropriate expectations and supervision
- Warm, positive, and responsive verbal interaction
- Seeing the child as a unique individual, having insight into the child (i.e., why he does what he does)
- "Holding the child in mind" (i.e., awareness of and ability to reflect on the parent's own feelings and responses to the child)

A child who had a secure attachment with her parent as an infant is more likely in childhood to be independent and self-confident; to have appropriate interactions with peers and teachers; to manage her emotions, to be focused, curious and motivated in school; and to have strong problem solving skills.

INSECURE ATTACHMENT – DISRUPTED RELATIONSHIPS.

An **insecure attachment** is characterized by the child's inability to use his or her parent for comfort or as a secure base. Insensitive, rejecting, or inconsistent parenting has been linked to insecure attachment.

There are three types of insecure attachment:

- 1. When a parent is unavailable or rejecting, a child may become "avoidantly" attached, meaning that the child adapts by avoiding closeness and emotional connection. It is a strategy often developed by an infant whose parents have discouraged overt signs of either affection or distress, and who do not readily offer sympathy or comfort (Karen, 1994). The insecure avoidant infant rarely cries when separated from the primary caregivers and avoids contact upon his or her return (Papalia *et al.*, 1999).
- 2. An "ambivalently" attached child experiences the parents' communication as inconsistent and at times intrusive. Because the child can't depend on the parent to connect or respond, he develops a sense of anxiety and feelings of insecurity. The lack of consistent nurturing and protection from the parent makes it hard for the infant to feel that exploring the world is a safe option. Thus the child has a low threshold for distress, but no confidence that comfort will be forthcoming.
- 3. "Disorganized" attachment occurs when the child's' need for emotional closeness remains unseen or ignored, and the parents' behavior is a source of disorientation or terror. When children have experiences with parents that leave them overwhelmed, traumatized, and frightened, children become disorganized and chaotic. Disorganized attachment leads to difficulties in the regulation of emotions, social communication, and academic reasoning, as well as to more severe emotional problems.³

April 1, 2016 (New) 7 | Page

-

³ Parenting: Attachment, Bonding and Reactive Attachment Disorder. Children's Problems and Behaviors Related to Stress: Help with Stressed Kids for Parents and Educators.

Insecure Attachments can result in the child:

- Having difficulty developing healthy relationships
- Lacking confidence in the predictability of the world around him/her
- Struggling to manage his or her emotions
- Lacking the skills to comfort him/herself
- Feeling unsafe and unwilling to explore the world around him/her
- Being aggressive or withdrawn

What do the toddler and young child behaviors look like when an insecure attachment is developed?

- Excessive dependence
- Marked shyness, withdrawal, or unfriendliness
- Failure to seek contact and comfort when needed
- Indiscriminate friendliness or contact-seeking
- Punitive, bossy behaviors
- Over-concern with the parent's well-being (i.e., role reversal)
- Disoriented or frightened in presence of the parent, such as approaching while looking away, stilling, freezing, or rocking
- Promiscuous, sexualized behavior
- Viewing him/herself and others negatively

What do the parental behaviors look like when an insecure attachment has developed?

- o Interfering with the child's attempts at exploration (i.e., intrusive, overly controlling)
- o Unclear, inconsistent, developmentally inappropriate expectations and supervision
- o Ignoring the child's needs and cues
- Inconsistent, unreliable responsiveness
- Hostile, threatening, and frightening behaviors
- o Prioritizing the parent's needs over the child's (i.e., self-absorbed)
- Behaving like a child or treating the child as though he/she is in charge (i.e., role-reversal)
- Marked withdrawal, fright, hesitancy or timidity around the child
- o Sexualized or overly-intimate behaviors

A core question for all young children is grounded in attachment: Do I have an adult who cares about me and will keep me safe? What does it mean and what do I do when that adult who is supposed to care about me and keep me safe is also the same adult who is scary and hurtful?

To encourage attachment, staff can suggest the following activities:

- Explain the importance of skin-to-skin contact between baby and the parents
- Parents hold the baby while feeding
- Parents make eye contact with the baby
- Parents talk to the baby in a soothing voice
- Parents talk to the baby while doing natural daily activities (feeding, diaper changes, playing, going shopping etc.)

April 1, 2016 (New) 8 | Page

SERVE AND RETURN: HOW INTERACTIONS BUILD BRAINS

Brain structures are built through the interactive influences of genes and early experiences. The active ingredient is the "serve and return" relationships that children have with caregivers in their families or communities. Like the process of serve and return in games such as tennis and volleyball, young children natu-

Toxic Stress: When strong, frequent, or prolonged adverse experiences such as extreme poverty or repeated abuse are experienced without the buffering of adequate adult support.

rally reach out for interaction with others. A caregiver who is sensitive and responsive to a young child's signals provides an environment rich in "serve and return" experiences. When a child's caregiver is unable to provide these experiences or provides inappropriate responses, some brain structures may not form as they should. Inadequate interaction has huge negative implications for later learning, the development of skills and abilities, behavior, and health. When children have adverse early experiences that include chronic physical and emotional neglect, recurrent abuse, and parental addiction, it can lead to the development of **toxic stress** in a child's environment and can have a tremendous impact on his or her overall health and development.

SERVE AND RETURN IN EARLY CHILDHOOD⁴

The interactive serve and return between a child and a caregiver – cooing, making facial expressions, and babbling back and forth – literally builds the architecture of the developing brain. Having a positive, nurturing relationship with a caregiver early in childhood is one of the most important ways to promote healthy social, emotional, and cognitive development. A disturbance in any one of these domains, including adverse events, can lead to problems in other areas. For example, children who are unable to regulate their emotions are not likely to make many friends, which can limit their social development. An absence of friends is associated with poor academic achievement even at early ages, which can hamper some aspects of cognitive development. In this way, these capacities are connected over the course of the developmental period and help lay a foundation for lifelong health and well-being.

RISK FACTORS AND ATTACHMENT

Maternal depression, anxiety disorders and other forms of chronic depression often disrupt the parent-child bond because parents with untreated mental health disorders are often less able to provide developmentally appropriate stimulation and parent-child interactions.⁵ Parenting and child development are most affected when depression simultaneously occurs with other factors such as extreme poverty, substance abuse, adolescence and maltreatment.⁶ Infants of clinically depressed mothers often withdraw from their caregivers, which ultimately affects their language skills, as well as their peer relationships and difficulties in school. ⁷

The attachment that a child develops in the early years of his or her life dictates the outcome for the child into adulthood. Helping parents develop a secure relationship with their child is equally as important as providing consistency in care of the child. Responding quickly to a baby's cry, exuding warmth and being sensitively attuned promote a sense of security and trust in children. When children develop a secure attachment, they can thrive in every facet of their lives-educationally, relationally, occupationally, etc.

For more information, please review Appendices, beginning on page 19.

April 1, 2016 (New) 9 | Page

⁴ See http://developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/three-core-concepts-in-early-development/

⁵ Administration for Children and Families. (2000). Summary of Current Literature – Maternal depression.

⁶ Gurian, A. (2003). Mother Blues – Child Blues: How Maternal Depression Affects Children. New York University Child Study Center Letter, 7(3).

⁷ Knitzer, J. (1996). Meeting the Mental Health Needs of Young Children and Families: Service Needs, Challenges, and Opportunities. Children's Mental Health: Systems of Care in a Changing Society. Baltimore, MD: Brookes, P.H.:Ed. Stroul, B., 553-572.

THE IMPACT OF TRAUMA ON EARLY CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT

Research has shown us that traumatic experiences hold the potential for strong and lasting impact on the normal development of a child's brain. During early childhood, the brain is developing the framework for learning, planning, making connections, and abstract thinking. When the architecture of that framework is impacted by trauma, there can be adverse effects to the cognitive capacity, emotional experiences, and ability to manage and control their behaviors, ultimately impacting their interpersonal relationships⁸. The significance of this is even stronger when you consider that 47% of children experiencing trauma do so by the age of 5⁹.

While trauma can impact any child, children involved in child welfare are at a much higher risk of experiencing trauma and its consequences. This is in part due to the complex nature of the trauma, stemming from their primary attachment figures (traumatic loss, separation, intimate partner violence, impaired caregiver, emotional abuse, neglect, physical abuse, and sexual abuse), and also because of the chronicity of traumatic experiences for many in the child welfare system. Adults may see young children adapt to these repeated traumatic events and experiences with behaviors that are sometimes confusing and displaced. Young children can learn at a very early age how to cope with trauma and may present with behaviors or actions that are often misinterpreted by adults. For example, a child may present as very clingy with a caregiver but is unable to calm down when the caregiver tries to comfort him. The child becomes more upset and may hit or push away the caregiver, refusing to accept comfort. The caregiver responds by putting the child down; the child then tries to climb back up onto the caregiver's lap.

Children who have experienced trauma in their early developmental years are more prone to perceive threats in their environment, exhibit impulsive or inhibited behaviors, and have difficulty trusting others. Most traumas experienced by children under the age of 5 are not explicit and instead are held in the body and can result in physical sensations, distress, and dysregulation.

The impact on children exposed to early trauma is often reflected in developmental delays. A national survey conducted of children in the child welfare system found that 35% of children who experienced trauma had developmental delays in the following areas:

- motor skills;
- speech and language development;
- emotional/behavioral regulation; and
- cognitive functioning.

April 1, 2016 (New) 10 | Page

⁸ The National Child Traumatic Stress Network, pp. 28-29.

⁹ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2015). Child maltreatment 2013, p. 31. Available from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/research-data-technology/statistics-research/child-maltreatment.

TYPES OF STRESS

Learning how to cope with adversity is an important part of healthy child development. When we are threatened, our bodies activate a variety of physiological responses, including increases in heart rate, blood pressure, and stress hormones such as cortisol.

Positive Stress	When a young child is protected by supportive relationships with adults, he learns to cope with everyday challenges and his stress response system returns to baseline.
Tolerable stress	Occurs when more serious difficulties, such as the loss of a loved one, a natural disaster, or a frightening injury, are buffered by caring adults who help the child adapt, which mitigates the potentially damaging effects of abnormal levels of stress hormones.
Toxic Stress	When strong, frequent, or prolonged adverse experiences such as extreme poverty, violence, or repeated abuse and neglect are experienced without the buffering of adequate adult support.

RESPONSE TO TOXIC STRESS

Infants respond to toxic stress by producing a stress hormone called cortisol. Prolonged activation of the infant's stress response system can result in disruptions in brain development and can have lasting impact on psychological and overall health into the adult years.

Without appropriate intervention early on or if untreated, these symptoms may intensify and lead to mental health problems for infants and toddlers that may manifest in physical symptoms, delayed development, inconsolable crying, sleep problems, aggressive or impulsive behaviors and paralyzing fears.

Infants and toddlers who have experienced abuse and neglect, or who have been exposed to substance abuse prenatally, have higher rates of physical and emotional problems. If not addressed, these delays can have serious consequences for children as they age.

TRAUMA'S IMPACT ON BRAIN DEVELOPMENT

Exposure to chronic, prolonged traumatic experiences has the potential to alter children's brains, which may cause longer-term effects in areas such as:

- Attachment: Trouble with relationships, boundaries, empathy, and social isolation
- Physical Health: Impaired sensorimotor development, coordination problems, increased medical problems, and somatic symptoms
- Emotional Regulation: Difficulty identifying or labeling feelings and communicating needs
- Dissociation: Altered states of consciousness, amnesia, impaired memory
- Cognitive Ability: Problems with focus, learning, processing new information, language development, planning and orientation to time and space
- Self-Concept: Lack of consistent sense of self, body image issues, low self-esteem, shame and guilt
- Behavioral Control: Difficulty controlling impulses, oppositional behavior, aggression, disrupted sleep and eating patterns, trauma re-enactment
 - Source: Cook, et al. (2005). Complex trauma in children and adolescents. Psychiatric Annals, 35(5), 390-398.

Adverse Childhood Experiences

The Adverse Childhood Experiences Study (ACEs) is one of the largest scientific research studies designed to analyze the relationship between **childhood trauma/maltreatment** and the risk for **physical and mental illness in adulthood**. The ACEs findings suggest that certain experiences are major risk factors for the leading causes of illness and death as well as poor quality of life in the United States.

April 1, 2016 (New) 11 | Page

Over the course of a decade, the results demonstrated a strong, graded relationship between the level of traumatic stress in childhood and poor physical, mental and behavioral outcomes later in life. The ACEs found that, as the number of traumatic experiences in childhood increase, the risk for 17 serious problems later in life increases as well including but not limited to: health-related quality of life, risk for intimate partner violence and illicit drug use. The study identified a set of traumatic experiences and family dysfunctions that significantly impact the trajectory of an individual's life as it relates to his or her physical, emotional, and social health.¹⁰ These traumatic experiences were grouped into two major categories: Abuse (includes verbal, physical and sexual) and Household Dysfunction (which is witnessed by a child and includes mental health impairments, substance use, parental separation/divorce, and domestic violence.¹¹ This trajectory leads to the adoption of risk-related behaviors that can result in disease and disability and social problems that are often the backdrop of dysfunction experienced in the households with which we work: depression, drug and alcohol use, homelessness, criminal behaviors, parenting problems, and family violence.

A trauma trigger is an experience that causes an individual to recall a previous traumatic memory. Trauma triggers in young children can include:

- sights
- sounds
- smells
- touches
- a combination of some or all, causing sensory overload for the child.

Trigger responses function to help a child achieve safety when exposed to perceived danger. There are four primary responses to danger: FIGHT, FLIGHT, FREEZE, and FAINT¹².

- A young child whose trigger response is to FIGHT may present with hyperactivity, verbal or physical aggression or oppositional behavior.
- A young child whose trigger response is **FLIGHT** may present as withdrawn, isolated or avoidant.
- A young child whose trigger response is to **FREEZE** may shut down emotionally or may appear watchful or dazed. The child's body may show signs of trembling, shaking or he or she may curl into a ball.
- A young child whose trigger response is to FAINT may act stunned or numb, appear to be gazing off into nowhere, dissociated, "off in another place".¹³

It is important to know that most children have a combination of responses to trauma triggers that are often inconsistent and confusing to adults. Children may respond to a perceived threat by fighting with one adult and by freezing with another. Most trauma-exposed children are so overwhelmed by emotions when they feel threatened that they have very little ability to regulate their emotional state. This is why strategies such as "time out" are often not useful and can actually be harmful to children in some cases. When children are struggling to manage their responses to fear, they need a trusted caregiver to anticipate these responses and provide them more support and emotional availability, not take it away by putting them in "time out."

¹¹ Connecticut Department of Children and Families Special Review Summary Report, "Deepening Competency From Adversity" (2016).

April 1, 2016 (New) 12 | Page

¹⁰ ACESTUDY.gov

¹² Perry, B.D. The neurodevelopmental impact of violence in childhood. Chapter 18: In **Textbook of Child and Adolescent Forensic Psychiatry**, (Eds., D. Schetky and E.P. Benedek) American Psychiatric Press, Inc., Washington, D.C. pp. 221-238. 2001.)

¹³ Perry 2001 above. Infants and young children tend predominantly toward a dissociative adaptive reaction perhaps because they are not capable of fighting or fleeing but must rely on the caregiver to fight or flee or warn or protect them (p. 7).

Understanding Trauma Triggers – A Case Example

Sally was removed from her parents care at the age of three and placed with paternal relatives. Prior to removal, Sally's parents had been transient/homeless often staying at shelters or with various friends for short periods of time. Sally witnessed physical violence between her parents throughout her childhood, the last incident resulting in father's arrest and incarceration. Subsequently, Sally's mother began struggling with depression and alcohol abuse, had minimal supports available to help her, and often left Sally with strangers at the shelter.

Sally now lives with her paternal uncle, his wife and their four children ranging in age from 10 to 18. Sally's uncle bears a strong physical resemblance to Sally's father and they have similar voice tones. One day, Sally's male cousins (ages 15 and 17), engaged in playful rough housing in the living room and knocked over a lamp that crashed to the floor. Sally witnessed this from the kitchen where she was having lunch with her aunt. When Sally's uncle heard the crash he came into the living room, separated the boys and yelled at them for rough housing in the house.

This is a very busy family. Both parents work and Sally is enrolled in a community based Head Start program. The family is involved with their church community and they are busy with their children's sports activities. As a result of their busy lifestyle, Sally has been exposed to many new people and caregivers both at home and at Head Start.

Paternal relatives provide Sally with a safe, secure, stable, and nurturing family environment. Due to her past trauma experiences with her parents, Sally occasionally experiences trauma triggers (false alarms or reminders of her past traumatic experiences).

Can you identify what some of these triggers might be in her new home? Keep in mind the most common trauma triggers are sight and sound, followed by smell, touch and taste.

Sight:

- Sally's uncle may be a trigger as he resembles her father who was an abuser.
- Sally observes rough housing between her cousins.
- Sally seeing the lamp being knocked over as a result of her cousins' rough housing.
- Sally seeing her uncle physically separate and yell at her cousins.

Sound:

- Sally hearing her uncle's tone of voice when he yelled at her cousins.
- Sally hearing her cousins yelling at one another during their rough housing.
- Sally hearing the loud bang when the lamp crashed to the floor.

Other triggers for Sally may include the numerous transitions she is experiencing in this home, inclusive of the changes in her daily routines and habits, recent enrollment at Head Start, introduction to new people and new caregivers, daily separation from her new caregivers, and possible overstimulation with all of these new experiences. In addition, Sally may also experience physiological symptoms as a result of her trauma.

The Role of the Social Worker to Support Sally and Caregiver:

It is important that the Social Worker share information about the child's background and history with the child's caregivers so that those caring for him or her have a better understanding of her childhood experiences.

The Role of the Caregivers in Supporting Sally:

Parents and caregivers of children who have a history of trauma must be educated about trauma triggers so they can be mindful that children's reactions and behaviors to events and circumstances that typically would not cause a reaction in other children may be difficult for these children based on their past experiences. Parents and caregivers must understand that young children will react to trauma in ways that are different from older children and adults.

Caregivers should be informed of the nature of the children's trauma. Although the caregiver or parent may never learn the full story of these traumatic experiences, it is important for them to review what may have precipitated these reactions in the child they are caring for. Without this understanding, these behaviors may be misinterpreted and/or result in a disruption in placement. Support and connection to trauma-informed services for these children are critical in their ability to heal.

Educating caregivers about the possible effects of maltreatment on brain development, and the resulting symptoms, may help them better understand and support the children in their care.

Children need nurturance, stability, predictability, understanding and support.

For more information on Trauma, please review Appendices beginning on page 4.

April 1, 2016 (New) 13 | Page

CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT

Early childhood is a time of remarkable physical, cognitive, social and emotional development. Growth and development includes the physical changes that will occur from infancy to adolescence, as well as changes in emotions, personality, behavior, thinking, and speech that children undergo as they begin to understand and interact with the world around them.

Types of Developmental Milestones:

- 1. **Physical milestones**: involve both large motor skills and fine motor skills. The large motor skills are usually the first to develop and include sitting up, standing, crawling and walking. Fine motor skills involve precise movements such as grasping a spoon, holding a crayon, drawing shapes and picking up small objects.
- Cognitive milestones are centered on a child's ability to think, learn and solve problems. An infant learning how
 to respond to facial expressions and a preschooler learning the alphabet are both examples of cognitive milestones.
- 3. **Social and emotional milestones** are centered on children gaining a better understanding of their own emotions and the emotions of others. These milestones also involve learning how to interact and play with other people.
- 4. **Communication milestones** involve both language and nonverbal communication. A one-year old learning how to say his first words and a five year old learning some of the basic rules of grammar are examples of important communication milestones.

While most of these milestones typically take place during a certain developmental stage, parents and caregivers must remember that each child is unique.¹⁴

	Typical Behaviors You Might Observe During Visits					
Υ	Young Infants (0-6/8 months)		Mobile Infants (6/8 – 18 Months)		Older Infants (18-36 months)	
	Focus: Safety/Security		Focus: Exploration	F	ocus: Independence/Identity	
✓	Sleep	✓	Stands	✓	Talk	
✓	Smile	✓	Walking	✓	Run	
✓	Look around/visual tracking	✓	Crawling	✓	Kick	
✓	Cry	✓	Grabbing	✓	Climb	
✓	Turnover	✓	Playing	✓	Bite	
✓	Sit	✓	Throwing	✓	Tantrum	
✓	Reach	✓	Hitting	✓	"No"	
✓	Pick things up	✓	Dump/fill	✓	"Mine"	
✓	Imitate	✓	1 st words	✓	Demanding	
✓	Mouth objects	✓	Feeds self	✓	Egocentric	
✓	Cooing	✓	Motor skill development	✓	Concrete thinker	
✓	Laughing	✓	Exploring	✓	Exhibit autonomy	
✓	"Ba-ba" (beginning of language)					

April 1, 2016 (New) 14 | Page

¹⁴ http://psychology.about.com/od/early-child-development/f/developmental-milestone.htm

Note: If children are not exhibiting the behaviors described above within their respective age range, this is a red flag and should be assessed further. Consultation with Supervisor, RRG, child's pediatrician, and/or Birth to 3 is recommended.

The achievement of the initial stage of development influences all others. Based on their own history and experiences as well as their understanding of child development, parents may misinterpret their child's behavior as they begin to explore and become more independent. ¹⁵

For more information on Child Development, please review Appendices beginning on page 10.

Within the context of one's family, community and cultural background, social and emotional health is the child's developing capacity to:

- o Form secure relationships
- o Experience and regulate emotions
- o Explore and learn

Social health reflects a child's developing ability to form close, secure relationships with familiar people in their lives such as parents, relatives and other nurturing caregivers. This trusting bond helps children to feel safe in exploring their world. The term "social competence" is defined as a group of behaviors that permits each individual child to develop and engage in positive interactions with other people.

The groups of behaviors related to social competence are included below:

- responding to and initiating interactions between caregivers, siblings, other adults, and peers;
- participating in cooperative and social activities;
- managing behavior and resolving conflict;
- knowing about self and others;
- showing empathy; and
- developing a positive self-image and self-worth.

Primarily for children, age 4 or older

Emotional development is closely tied to social development. It references how children view themselves and others; whether they are open to new challenges and exploring new environments; and learning to focus and be patient in the context of nurturing support by familiar caregivers. It is critical to note that infants and toddlers begin to understand and regulate their own emotions through their relationships with trusting adults.¹⁶

Emotional competence has been defined as the ability to effectively regulate emotions to accomplish one's goals. Emotions are reactions, which are experienced differently by each individual. This is why different people can have different emotions when experiencing the same event.

Young children need to develop and safely express a variety of emotional responses so they can learn to adjust to new situations and achieve their desired outcomes. This results in a richer social environment and more satisfying relationships for the child and those around him or her.

Research findings show that infants are born with the ability to connect with other people in their environment. Infants recognize familiar voices and even match tone of voice to facial expression. The brain of an infant is designed to connect the newborn with other people who care for them. The infant's brain matures through the interactions between the infant and his or her environment.

April 1, 2016 (New) 15 | Page

¹⁵ Using the Screening Process to Improve Outcomes for Infants, Toddlers, and Families. Anne Giordano, Infant Mental Health Training Session Handout

¹⁶ http://www.abilitypath.org/areas-of-development/social--emotional/what-is-social-emotional.html

The infant's communication of emotions and needs and the adult's response to these needs establishes the learning pathways in the brain that lead to all other physical, cognitive, and emotional learning. The family's culture has an important influence in all areas of the infant's development, including social and emotional development.

When children's social and emotional health is compromised, it can create significant challenges leading to failure in school, inability to make and sustain friendships, and negative feelings about themselves.

Supporting the social and emotional health of infants, toddlers and young children makes sense because:

- Early relationships set the stage for healthy or unhealthy brain development
- Poor early social, emotional and behavioral development predicts early school failure, which in turn predicts later school failure
- Early intervention can address concerns and reduce higher cost interventions in the future

The following factors may affect the way children express their social skills or emotional competencies or the rate in which children acquire these skills and competencies:

- environmental risk factors such as living in an unsafe community, receiving care within a low-quality child care setting, lack of resources available in the community, etc.
- experiencing an adverse event physical, psychological, sexual abuse or neglect
- family risk factors such as maternal depression or mental illness in the family, parental substance abuse, family violence, poverty, etc.
- child risk factors such as a fussy temperament, developmental delay, and serious health issues.

All of these factors need to be taken into careful consideration when gathering information to fully understand and support children's social and emotional health.

Intensity and frequency of the following signs may indicate that a child or family needs assistance. They do not necessarily indicate definite mental health concerns and are to be used only as "red flags" or warning signs.

In these situations, consult with your Supervisor, RRG, the child's pediatrician or Early Intervention Specialist.

Infant (birth-12 months)	Toddler	Pre-school child	Parent
 Unusually difficult to soothe Limited interest in things or people Consistent strong reactions to touch, sounds, or move- 	. , .	 Consistently prefers to not play with others or with toys Goes with strangers easily Destructive to self or others 	 Known mental illness Substance use Limited coping skills History of trauma
ment Always fearful or on guard Reacts strongly for no apparent reason Evidence of abuse or neglect	 Does not turn to familiar adults for comfort and help Has inconsistent sleep patterns 	 Hurts animals 	 Frequent moves or lack of friends and supports

SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL MILESTONES. The following charts represent social and emotional development from birth to age five. They include examples of typical social and emotional development and potential concerns. ¹⁷

April 1, 2016 (New) 16 | Page

¹⁷ Center for Early Childhood Mental Health Consultation. Georgetown University for Child and Human Development.

INFANTS – BIRTH TO 3 MONTHS

Social and Emotional Milestones	Examples of Typical Social and Emotional Development	Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Social and Emotional Concerns			
Social Development- Attach	Social Development- Attachment:				
 Recognizes human language and prefers own mother's voice Prefers human faces Engages in mutual eye gaze Begins to imitate smiles and other facial expressions 	While changing Matthew's (6 weeks old) diaper, his caregiver talks softly to him. Matthew and caregiver make eye contact and the child coos as he moves his arms and legs. At the end of the day, Jamal's (3 months) mother arrives to pick him up. As soon as Jamal hears his mother's voice, he directs his gaze on his mother. When she picks him up, she smiles and looks at him while saying, "Oh, there's my big boy! Who is my big boy?" In response, he looks at her and smiles.	When Toby (1 ½ months) first arrives at the childcare center, his caregiver notes that his skin is pale, splotchy, and clammy. When his mother comes in to pick him up, he does not respond to her voice, nor does he attempt to make eye contact or maintain a mutual gaze with his mother or his caregiver.			
Emotional Development- Se	elf-Regulation:				
 Brings thumb or fingers to mouth to suck Sleeps often Enjoys being cuddled Can typically be comforted by familiar adult when distressed Cries to signal pain, hunger or distress 	Lia (2 months) awakens and begins to cry. As the caregiver makes her way to the crib, Lia sucks on her fingers and begins to calm down. The caregiver picks Lia up and carries her to the rocking chair. As she rocks her, she gently touches Lia's face until she calms. Jason (3 months) lies on his back looking up at the mobile above him in the crib. In the crib next to him, Lilly awakens and begins to cry. Within a minute, Jason is also crying. The caregiver goes to them and says in a quiet voice, "Oh my goodness, what is wrong?" Lilly quiets when the caregiver comes near and then goes back to sleep. Jason continues to cry, so the caregiver picks him up and gently pats his back. He calms quickly.	Three-month-old Chandra has been attending childcare for over a month, but has no regular sleep patterns. When she does sleep, her body often jerks and she wakes up screaming and cannot be calmed or comforted by her primary caregiver. When her caregiver attempts to rock her, swaddle her, or give her something to suck on, she resists and continues to cry in a loud, unregulated manner.			

Signs of sensory overload are as follows:

- **Movement**: The infant tends to show jerky movements of his/her arms and legs or thrusts his/her tongue. The infant also is likely to turn his/her head away, arch the back, squirm, and push himself/herself away when being held
- **Facial expression**: Observe the facial expressions of the infant. Frowning, grunting, yawning, and grimacing are all signs of sensory overload.
- Arousal/alertness level: An infant who falls asleep suddenly when the environment around him/her is noisy may
 be shutting down due to sensory overload. If the infant is quiet and calm but suddenly begins crying a lot, it could
 also be a sign of sensory overload.
- **Vital signs**: A fast heartbeat, breathing irregularly, sweating, and a color change, especially in the face (from pale, flush, or blue), are signs of sensory overload.
- **Infant's response**: Observe the infant when you try to calm him/her. Dim the lights, turn off any loud noises, talk in a calm voice, remove any noisy and brightly colored toys, and rock and swaddle the infant.

April 1, 2016 (New) 17 | Page

INFANTS – AGE 3-6 MONTHS

Social and Emotional Milestones	Examples of Typical Social and Emotional Development	Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Social and Emotional Concerns				
Social Development-Attachment:	Social Development-Attachment:					
 Smiles socially in response to facial expressions and familiar voices Gazes at familiar person Tracks objects Tracks familiar voice Prefers familiar adults Begins to mimic adult sounds / vocalizations Laughs 	Samuel (4 months) is lying on the floor on his stomach as his caregiver sits on the floor beside him. The caregiver rolls a ball in front of him and talks to him in a soft voice. Samuel looks at the ball, and when the caregiver speaks he raises his head to look at the caregiver and smiles. As the caregiver changes Olivia's (6 months) diaper, she says quietly, "I'm going to tickle you! I'm going to get you!" In response, Olivia smiles, looks up at her caregiver and laughs. The caregiver moves in close to Olivia and says, "Oh, you are so ticklish! Oh my goodness, listen to those laughs!"	Owen (5 months) is lying on the floor while his mother prepares a bottle. Although his mother knows he is hungry, he does not smile or respond when his mother comes near him with a bottle and says, "Are you hungry, Owen?" While taking the bottle, he does not look at his mother's eyes or face.				
Emotional Development:						
 Self-Regulation: Discovers and watches own hands Responds to own name Expression: Expresses emotions such as, fear, sadness, joy 	Jackson (3 ½ months) and his mother arrive for group time at a local childcare center. As the mother carries Jackson into the center in a carrier, he examines his hands and puts his thumb in his mouth. The home visitor walks over and as she says, "Hello Jackson!" He looks up smiles at the home visitor. Ella (5 months) is napping when the tornado siren sounds. She awakens immediately and begins to cry loudly in response to the loud sound. As her caregiver approaches and picks her up, Ella clings to her and continues to cry until the alarm stops.	In the three months Brandy (6 months) has been in the classroom, the caregivers have never seen her smile or laugh. In fact, Brandy rarely shows any expression of emotion, including crying. Her caregivers have noticed recently that Brandy does not respond to her name like other children her age. When her grandmother comes to pick her up, she always walks directly to Brandy, picks her up and leaves without saying a word. Brandy rarely has any emotional reactions during arrival or departures.				

April 1, 2016 (New) 18 | Page

INFANTS: 6-9 MONTHS

Social and Emotional Milestones	Examples of Typical Social and Emotional Development	Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Social and Emotional Concerns			
Social Development:					
 Reaches out to familiar adults to be picked up and held Babbling Seeks out adults for play Can sit up by herself and can reach for toys 	Carlos (6 months) is sitting in his high chair eating his lunch. After about 10 minutes he begins to cry when his caregiver tries to give him more bananas. His face turns red as he moves his hands in front of his face rapidly. When his caregiver asks him if he is all done, he reaches up to her until she picks him up out of the high chair. Rachel (9 months) crawls to her caregiver and then props herself up next to the caregiver. She laughs as her caregiver covers her face and then quickly uncovers it, saying, "Peek-a-boo!"	Tara (7 months old) is not yet able to sit up on her own. She has very poor muscle tone and prefers to lie on her back in her crib or on the floor. Occasionally, her caregivers will prop her up with pillows, but generally she usually slides down and ends up lying on her back again. She is not yet babbling, nor is she making attempts to seek out adults for play or attention.			
Emotional Development- Self-Regu	llation:				
 Uses a blanket or other toy for security Tries to make things happen Seeks comfort from familiar caregivers Expresses feelings of discomfort, anxiety, pleasure, hunger, and being tired Acts anxious around unfamiliar adults Henry (7 months) sits and hits at a toy. The complex is the button, the toy lights up and music. When this happens, his eyes ligh he laughs and then looks at his caregive to say, "Did you see that!" Maria's (8 months) caregiver was sick, substitute was caring for her. When the caregiver approached to pick Maria up a her nap, she cried and searched the criticously for her favorite stuffed toy. The complex is given said, "Oh, you don't know me so wyou? Does your bear make you feel better. 		Mario (9 months) is startled very easily by loud noises, bright lights, or if someone touches him unexpectedly. When this happens, his body will begin to tremble as he cries uncontrollably. The crying typically continues from 20 minutes to one hour. When he cries, he sometimes gets the hiccups and spits up. His caregivers have tried holding him, rocking him, walking with him, and giving him a pacifier, but nothing will console him. On several occasions the caregiver has called his parents to seek advice and assistance when he cries for such a prolonged period of time. Once his father came to pick him up when he cried for over an hour. When his father arrived, Mario did not respond positively; rather, he cried with even more intensity.			

April 1, 2016 (New) 19 | Page

INFANTS – 9-12 MONTHS

Examples of Typical Social and Emotional Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Social and Emotional Milestones Development Social and Emotional Concerns **Social Development- Attachment:** Shakes head to signify "no" to Sarah (9 months) crawls across the floor until When the home visitor arrives, Liam (10 she reaches the plastic rings. She balances on months) is asleep. While he sleeps, the home one arm and picks one up, looks at it, babbles visitor asks the parents if they would be willing Begins to use a few words and babbling to seek attention/exa few syllables, and then puts it in her mouth. to complete a developmental questionnaire. Her caregiver comes over to her and says, "Sa-As she goes over some of the items, she notices press self rah did you find something to chew on?" Sarah the mother and father are looking at each Babbles to self when alone responds by taking the ring out of her mouth, other with puzzled looks. Sensing their confu-Enjoys exploring toys with an laughing, and handing the ring to her caregiver. sion, she asks if they have any questions. adult Liam's mother reluctantly says, "Um, he doesn't do any of this," as the father nods his Keyla (10 months) sits on her caregiver's lap exploring a book. As the caregiver turns the page head. The home visitor talks with the parents and describes the pictures, Keyla imitates the about their concerns. When Liam wakes, the caregiver's tone of voice with an excited, "bah" home visitor sees that indeed, Liam is highly and "whoa." After finishing the book, the careunresponsive, is not babbling, does not make giver says, "Well Keyla, it is time for your nap. eye contact, and does not explore the environ-Are you ready for your nap?" To this Keyla rement. sponds by shaking her head "no." The caregiver picks her up and talks to her softly and rocks her gently as she walks toward the crib. **Emotional Development- Self-Regulation:** Explores environment by Sophia (10 months) has just begun pulling up McKenna's (9 months) caregivers think that and cruising around the couch in her classshe is fearless! She just started crawling and crawling or walking away, but checks back frequently to enroom. As she moves around to the side of the will crawl all around the room, without lookcouch, she keeps looking back at her caregiver ing back to make sure a caregiver is there to sure adult contact to make sure she is still there. support her. She is often labeled the "easy Shows strong feelings of afbaby" because she is so agreeable and will fection, anger, and anxiety. After Jada's (twelve months) mother drops willingly go to anyone, even if the person is Exhibits intensely strong feelher off, she begins to cry. Jada stands, looking not familiar. In fact, even when McKenna's ings toward parents or other out the door, crying. A few moments later, mother or father are holding her or are in the primary caregivers she walks to her cubby, picks up her blanket, room, she will readily go to a stranger and then walks to her caregiver with her arms up. Jada's caregiver picks her up and cuddles with her, saying, "I know you miss your

April 1, 2016 (New) 20 | Page

mama. I'm sorry you are so sad."

TODDLERS: 12-18 MONTHS

Social and Emotional Milestones	Examples of Typical Social and Emotional Development	Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Social and Emotional Concerns
Social Development-Attachment:		
 Imitates adult behaviors Seeks out others to do things for them Is curious about people. Smiles/plays with self in mirror 	Jaydin's (13 months) teacher hands each child a banana for snack. Jaydin goes to the teacher and takes her hand and pulls her to the play kitchen area. Jaydin says to the teacher "baba" to look for the toy banana. His teacher says, "Wow! You are looking for a banana!" They look for the toy banana in the kitchen cabinet. The teacher finds a toy orange and a banana and holds both fruits up. The teacher shows Jaydin both fruits and asks him "Is this the banana?" Jaydin says "no" and points to the correct fruit. The teacher says, "That is the banana, Jaydin. Let's eat our bananas at the table." Molly (eighteen months) climbs up the steps on the play structure in her classroom and stops and waves at Jillian before she goes down the slide. At the top of the platform, Molly notices herself in the mirror. She stops to look at herself and laughs. Jillian climbs up the steps and joins Molly at the mirror; both laugh as they look in the mirror.	When Toby (13 months) first arrives at the childcare center. When his mother comes in to pick him up, he does not respond to her voice, nor does he attempt to make eye contact or maintain a mutual gaze with his mother.
Emotional Development-Self-Regu	lation:	
 Uses familiar adults as a secure base when exploring environments Shows strong sense of self by telling others what to do (e.g., "You eat!") Shows affection for familiar persons by giving hugs, smiles, kisses, etc. Reacts to changes in daily routine 	During group time, Martha (14 months) plays with a small group of children. When a new child or unfamiliar adult enters the area, she looks back at her father to make sure he is still there. When Cody (13 months) picks up the toy Martha was playing with, she shouts, "No," then moves toward the child and is about to bite him when a caregiver intervenes and says, "Martha, I know you are upset because you were playing with that toy. Let's find another toy so you and Cody can both play." At the end of the day, Joel's (16 months) grandmother comes to pick him up. When she walks into the room, he smiles and runs to her and hugs her legs.	Chandra (12 months) has been attending childcare for over a month, but has no regular sleep patterns. When she does sleep, her body often jerks and she wakes up screaming and cannot be calmed or comforted by her primary caregiver. When her caregiver attempts to hold her or verbally comfort her, she resists and continues to cry in a loud, unregulated manner.

April 1, 2016 (New) 21 | Page

TODDLERS: 18-24 MONTHS

Social and Emotional **Examples of Typical Social and Examples of Risk Factors for Potential** Milestones **Emotional Development** Social and Emotional Concerns **Social Development-Attachment:** Mya (19 months) runs to the bookshelf, picks up Good-José (20 months) is extremely at-Brings items of interest to caregivers to show and night Moon, and says, "moon" as she turns and runs totached and dependent on one priward her teacher. Mya puts the book in her teacher's lap play with, read, etc. mary caregiver. This caregiver is the and says, "Read. Moon." Her teacher picks her up and only person in the center who speaks Expresses difficulties sharsays, "So you want to read Goodnight Moon?" Mya nods Spanish, José's native language. When ing preferred items with yes. After reading the first page, her teacher says, "Can she leaves the classroom, even to use others you turn to the next page, Mya?" Mya turns the page and the restroom, José cries uncontrolla-Often says, "No!" to adults smiles broadly and claps when her teacher says, "Yay! You bly. Recently the center hired a Spanand other children did it, Mya!" ish-speaking floater who could come Enjoys receiving attention in the classroom and be with José from others for accom-Josie (24 months), Neil (23 months), and Chen (21 months) while his primary caregiver is out of plishments are playing in the dramatic play area. Chen sits off to the the room. Unfortunately, José does side holding a doll. Josie is busy putting all of the plastic not respond to the new person and food in the sink. She says to Neil, "In here!" as she picks up cries until his primary caregiver remore fruit and places it in the sink. In reply he shouts, "No! turns or his mother comes to pick him Me nana!" He grabs the banana out of the sink and runs up. across the room. Josie begins to cry and stomps on the floor while shouting, "No, in here! In here!" **Emotional Development-Self-Regulation:** At the end of the day, David's (eighteen months) father Rachel (19 months) frequently "gets Often experiences intense feelings when separating or comes to pick him up from childcare. As soon as he sees lost" in the classroom. In the mornings his father he squeals, "Daddy!" and runs toward him. His when her mother drops her off, she reuniting with parents father picks him up and says, "Hey buddy! I'm so happy to usually cries for at least 30 minutes. Has mood swings in which see you." David buries his face in his father's shoulder and The caregivers used to try to console expression of feelings can hugs him tightly. As they are walking toward the door, her, but now they just give her a seem erratic Katie (22 months) stops them and says, "Katie draw" as stuffed toy and let her cry. After she Expresses anger focused on she holds up a picture she drew. David's dad puts him stops crying, she never participates in others or objects down and looks at Katie saying, "Wow! You used a lot of activities. No matter what is happen-Shows pride in accomplishblue in your picture." David then pushes his way between ing, Rachel always seems to have a ments Katie and his father saying, "No!" blank stare on her face. When her Wants to do things "my teachers ask her questions, she does way" Gentry's (23 months) mother practically runs into the not respond. The only word she uses room, sits him down and tells the teacher, "Sorry, I'm runconsistently is mama. ning late!" As soon as she leaves, Gentry gets up and runs to the door, sobbing "Mama. No mama go! No mama go!" His teacher walks to him and says, "I know you are so sad that your mama had to leave. Do you want to go and have some breakfast?" Gentry shakes his head no and sadly says, "Mama go." His teacher stands back as he goes to look at the picture of his mother in his cubby. After a few moments he stops crying. His caregiver then goes to him and says, "Oh, you know that we are having your favorite breakfast today, waffles!" Gentry turns his head, looks at her, and says, "Wapples!" She says, "Yes, let's go get some waffles." He runs to the table smiling and saying, "Wapples, please."

April 1, 2016 (New) 22 | Page

Children: 24-36 months

Social and Emotional Milestones	Examples of Typical Social and Emotional Development	Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Social and Emotional Concerns
Social Development-Attachment:		
 Sees others as a barrier to immediate gratification Participates primarily in parallel play Identifies self with children of the same gender 	Cooper (32 months), Jade (34 months), and Jocelyn (30 months) are playing at the water table outside. Jocelyn plays by herself, pouring water out of a pitcher onto a water wheel. She giggles as the water splashes in her face. Cooper is standing by Jade washing his doll in the water. Jade says, "My doll! My girl doll." Cooper frowns and says, "My dolly." Cooper keeps playing with the doll.	Adrienne (30 months) has been in the same classroom for four months and she is only interested in going to the writing table during choice time. This would not concern her teachers so much, but she will not allow any other children to be near her during this time. She loves for teachers to come and work with her, but if another child comes near her she uses a loud voice to say, "No! Get Out!"
	Bella (28 months) loves to play outside. When her teacher announces that it is time to go outside, Bella runs fast toward the door, knocking into two of her peers.	
Emotional Development-Self-Regu	lation:	
 Enjoys directing others Frequently displays aggressive feelings and behaviors Shows increasing awareness of being judged by others Shows pleasure in mastering new skills Asserts independence (e.g., "Me do!") Attempts to regulate behaviors 	When Madeline's (30 months) caregiver announces, "It is time to clean-up!" Madeline rushes around picking up toys and other materials in the dramatic play center. A teacher comes over to help and Madeline says, "Me do!" Her teacher says to her, "You are working hard at cleaning up Madeline, so we can have lunch." Madeline says, "I'm done." Her teacher responds by saying, "Would you like to help me set the table for your friends?" Madeline says, "I help you" Madeline has a smile on her face and takes her teachers hand. During a playgroup time, the home visitor tells the children (and parents) that they will be playing with shaving cream at the discovery table. When Erin (35 months) approaches the table she looks at the shaving cream, then at her mother. Her mother says, "It's okay to touch, see." Her mother touches the shaving cream and puts a little on Erin's hand. Erin quickly wipes it off on her shirt and stands by her mother as two other children enter the area. Jonas (32 months) and Desmond (34 months) stick their hands in and laugh while looking at each other. Erin looks at her mother and then slowly puts one hand into the shaving cream. She smiles and puts the other hand in.	Triton (34 months) has a great deal of difficulty interacting with others in the classroom environment. Last week, he began crawling on the table where other children were painting. He picked up a container of paint and poured it on the table. The other children asked the teacher for help. When the teacher tries to help or redirect Triton he becomes upset and uses inappropriate words or gestures

April 1, 2016 (New) 23 | Page

CHILDREN: AGE 3-4 YEARS

Social and Emotional **Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Examples of Typical Social and Emotional Development Milestones Social and Emotional Concerns Social Development- Attachment:** Begins to include Jordan (3 ½ years), Sasha (3 ½ years), and Georgia (3 years) are playing Hope (3 ½ years) likes things to be neat in the restaurant created as a part of the dramatic play area. Sasha says and orderly. During choice time she folothers in joint exto Jordan and Georgia, "Do you want a menu?" Jordan replies, "Yes, lows other children around, picking up ploration and please." Sash hands him a menu, saying, "Here." He says, "Thanks." He play. after them and telling them to, "Stop messing." She refuses to take part in ac-Engages in prethen looks at Georgia and says, "Do you want to see, too?" Georgia nods yes and looks at the menu with Jordan. Sasha then says, "You guys tivities in which she might get dirty by tend play with should get the pizza, it's my favorite thing." Jordan says, "I'll have the verbally protesting or walking away. peers pizza please." Georgia says, "Yes, pizza." Sasha goes and puts a plastic Hope will spend extended periods of Learns to take piece of pizza on two plates and carries them back to the table. She time setting up displays of her favorite turns in conversasays, "Here's your pizza!" Jordan responds by saying, "Thanks, this is toys and if another child touches them, tions with peers good!" Georgia picks up her piece and says, "Oh good, pepperoni!" she cries and is very difficult to console. Begins to see the benefits of coop-At the lunch table, Jennifer (3 ½ years), Luca (3 ½ years), and Noah (3 ½ eration years) take turns passing dishes of food to each other, taking what they Recognizes when want and passing it along. They also pour milk into their cups. a child is absent from the group. During circle time the teacher asks the children who is missing today. Has secure rela-The children look around at each other and Danielle (3 years) says, "Jontionships with athon?" The teacher responds by saying, "Nope, Jonathon's right here. adults Wave to everyone, Jonathon." Jonathon waves. Chloe (3 ½ years) says, "Kara?" The teacher says, "Yes, Kara is missing today. Her mommy called this morning to tell us that Kara is sick today." Chloe says, "I wanted to play with Kara today." The teacher replied, saying, "I know that you feel sad when Kara isn't here, Chloe. Maybe you could draw Kara a special picture to let her know how much you missed her today." **Emotional Development- Self-Regulation:** Max (4 years) is playing with two friends with blocks and trucks. The Carmen (3 years) is experiencing a lot of Shows conboys are making the cars go down a block ramp very fast. Wes (three cern/empathy for fear. At school, his teachers struggle, be-

- others
- Begins to show greater self-regulation and cooperation with peers
- Shows increasing fears (e.g., dark, monsters, etc.)
- Can wait for a short time.
- Enjoys daily routines and doing more for themselves

years) is watching the boys play with a smile on his face. Max looks up and says, "Wes you can use this yellow truck." Wes looks down. Max gets up and brings the truck over to Wes, they sit down and Wes puts his car down the ramp, Max says, "That was fast!" "Watch me next."

In the block area, Lizzy (3 ½ years) and Ryan (3 ½ years) are working together to build a block tower. After a few minutes of building, they decide that after the building gets as tall as they are they will knock it down at the same time. Once the building reaches the specified height, Ryan and Lizzy count to three and push it over, shouting, "Whoo! Hoo! We did it!"

When it is time to lay down for nap time, Jasmine (3 years) begins to cry softly. When the teacher comes to check on her, Jasmine says, "Can you turn the light on brighter?" The teacher asks her if she is scared and Jasmine says, "A monster is in the closet." The teacher opens the closet door to show Jasmine that there is no monster in the closet. The teacher asks Jasmine if she would like to move her cot closer to the teacher's desk where there is a brighter light. Jasmine nods her head, "Yes." The teacher says, "See, it is okay, no monsters here." Jasmine smiles and lays down when her teacher softly rubs her back.

cause his fears seem to be affecting his daily routine. He is afraid of the toilet, crying and standing back from the bathroom when others line up. The teachers had to have his parents sign a consent that someone could go into the restroom stall with him. He is hesitant to climb the steps on the bus, so someone has been carrying him to his seat. When the air filter in the fish tank makes noise it startles Carmen, so he doesn't go near the discovery area. When the teachers attempt to provide him support to overcome his fears (stay close by, use words of encouragement, etc.) he begins to cry and cannot be calmed for extended periods of time. His parents have also expressed concern to his teachers because he exhibits similar behaviors at home and often has nightmares as well.

April 1, 2016 (New) 24 | Page

CHILDREN: 4-5 YEARS

Examples of Typical Social and Examples of Risk Factors for Potential Social and Emotional Milestones Social and Emotional Concerns Emotional Development Social Development- Attachment: The first two weeks of preschool, the teacher reg-Four-year-old Leo rarely joins in with ac-Acts out roles with other chilularly has the children act out how to follow the tivities occurring in the classroom. He ofclassroom rules using role-plays with each other. ten talks quietly to himself, but his teach-Enjoys cooperative activities ers and peers cannot understand his Easily participates in individ-During circle time, all children sit together and speech patterns. If given the choice, Leo ual, small, and large groups participate in songs and activities. After circle would spend all of his time sitting in a Makes up imaginary games time, Kim, Sanjay, and Sara choose to play at the quiet part of the room running a toy train and may invite others to play discovery table. They put on smocks and begin across the windowsill. His behavior is ofplaying. Juan and Tommy decide to go to the ten reported by the teachers as being unblock area. They quickly get out the blocks and predictable. Sometimes he will get up begin building together. Carla and Melissa go to and move if asked by a peer or teacher the computer center and work independently on and other times he might lash out by, two separate computers. Macy, Harold, and Marscratching those closest to him. cie go to the writing center to work with the teaching assistant on writing their names. **Emotional Development- Self-Regulation:** Recognizes differences in oth-Each morning during circle time, the teachers al-Mary (4 1/2 years) often engages in outlow each child to ask a question or share somebursts inside and out of the classroom. ers (e.g., race, disability, When other children get too close in height, weight) thing they have been thinking about. Today, Finn proximity to her play she will push the Expresses and array of emoshares that he saw someone in a wheelchair today on the way to school. He asks the teacher, other child away. If a child comes too tions with increasing control "Why were they rolling instead of walking?" The close or gets a toy from her, she will often Is aware of own feelings as teacher explains that sometimes people have tantrums for up to 10 minutes, and she well as the feelings of others something happen to their legs so they can't walk often has to be removed to a safe area of Verbalizes feelings very well. She asks if any of the children have ever the playground or classroom for the Shows empathy for others seen anyone in a wheelchair before. Will shares safety of her and others. Afterwards, she shows little to no remorse for what she that his grandpa rides in a wheel chair, and Lydia says that her uncle has one too. The next day the has done. When her teacher asks her why teacher brings in a wheelchair for the children to she is doing this, she generally replies, look at and explore. "He (or she) was taking my things." When the children are playing a game, an argument begins between several children over who should go first. When the teacher sees this, she asks the three children to go to the problem-solving table until they can come up with a solution to their problem. After a few moments they decide that Evie should go first because it was her idea to play the game, Kareem should go next because he asked to play with Evie first, and So-Yung should go last because he was the last to ask to play. The teacher asked if everyone was happy with that solution. All nodded yes and ran off to

To access additional information and resources, please review Appendices section, beginning on page 24.

April 1, 2016 (New) 25 | Page

ASSESSING SAFETY AND RISK FOR CHILDREN 0-5 – INTAKE AND ONGOING SERVICES

Background: Young children are at especially high risk for maltreatment and death. In July 2014, The Office of the Child Advocate issued a report reviewing 82 fatalities of children between 0-3; 24 families had prior, recent, or current involvement with DCF at the time of the child's death. Many of these families had multiple risk factors including:

- History of DCF involvement as a child
- History of substance use
- Intimate partner violence
- Mental health issues (parents)
- Criminal history
- Trauma history

CT data reveals that infants are more likely to die from unsafe sleeping conditions than from child abuse, car accidents, choking, drowning, falls, or any other source of accidental injury.

In January 2015, the Office of Research and Evaluation conducted a study of child fatalities involving children ages birth to three that occurred in CT from January 2005 through May 2014 as a means to identify potential risk factors common among families who experienced a child fatality and to help identify practice improvements and strategies to reduce the likelihood of a child fatality. This analysis identified the following factors to be statistically significant:

- Child age (65% of the children who died were less than 6 months of age)
- High risk newborn (children between the ages of 0-3 with medical issues)
- Unsafe sleep environment
- Parental risk factors present (substance use, mental health, CPS history)
- Parental needs and connection to services (issues not thoroughly assessed to gauge level of impact on the family; needs were not appropriately matched to services)
- Frequency of caseworker visits (more frequent parent/caseworker visitations were less likely to have a child fatality)
- Young parents (between the ages of 20-24)
- Perpetrators were typically household members
- Lack of connection to services in the community including home visiting and routine health care/primary care providers, and
- Lack of fatherhood engagement, particularly with the unrelated male caregiver.

This population is also vulnerable to developmental delays; more than half of young children in foster care experience developmental delays which is 4 to 5 times greater than the rate found among children in the general population. Young children are also vulnerable because they are less visible in the community. Infants and toddlers do not attend school and, if not enrolled in childcare or other programs, may not be visible outside the family.

Young children are also totally or primarily dependent on others to meet their needs.

Given their special vulnerability, it is important that we make careful and purposeful assessments when conducting visits in the homes of young children and that our intervention and supervision targets those areas of concern and vulnerability. We cannot or should not do this alone.

April 1, 2016 (New) 26 | Page

This consultation and support includes but is not limited to: primary care providers (health care providers), early intervention specialists including home visiting, DCF supervisors, managers, and RRG staff. This attention to young children should occur any time there is a child between the ages of 0-5 in the home regardless of whether the child is the "index" case (child of concern).

The following information provides a basic framework for assessing the needs and safety of infants and toddlers that come to the attention of the DCF. The goal of this section is to provide areas of focus for our social work and supervisory staff that need to be considered and explored when assessing the safety and risk of young children. These areas are divided as follows:

- Environment
- Caregiver Factors
- Child-Specific Factors.

When working with young children and their families, it is important we collaborate internally and with the community to help inform our assessment, including identifying safety and risk concerns, assessing strengths, needs, and protective factors of the family, and connecting them to appropriate resources and services in the community promptly throughout our intervention. Intervening early has been shown to have significant improvement in long-term outcomes for children.

For each component there is a list of possible risk factors with suggestions for ways to explore these factors. It is important to keep in mind the child's vulnerability. This information is intended to augment, not replace, the Social Worker's standard and ongoing assessment process.

Key Practice Principles for Children 0-5:

- The safety of the infant or child is the essential consideration.
- The infant's or child's vulnerabilities, including trauma history, necessitate extra vigilance when assessing his or her protective and care needs.
- All decisions should be based upon high quality, holistic risk assessment that takes into consideration the child, the family (birth, foster) and the social context.
- Early establishment of a healthy attachment to a consistent caregiver is essential to positive long-term outcomes. Establishment and maintenance of attachment must be critical elements in case planning.
- It is essential that work occurs in collaboration with other key providers and professionals including primary care providers, early intervention specialists and others.

Environment

It is essential to assess the home and home environment with specific attention to safe sleep environments, household composition and atmosphere.

Safe sleep (it is essential that attention be paid to sleep environment for infants \leq 12 months of age).

Assessing safe sleep involves accessing the family's rituals and routines both historically and in the present when it comes to infant care. All caregivers must participate in the safe sleep conversation (preferably at the same time), including older siblings when they are an integral part of the caregiving network. Obtaining information and feedback about the family's rituals and routines is by and large an act of asking curious and relevant questions. These questions can include, and are not limited to:

- What are your child's sleeping routines? (Who, when, where, how)?
- What times of the day and night does your child routinely enter a sleep period?
- What elements tend to help soothe and comfort your child when he or she is preparing for sleep?
- Who is responsible for your child's sleep time and who taught these responsible persons about safe and effective ways to transition infants to sleep?

April 1, 2016 (New) 27 | Page

- What time did your child go to sleep last night and when did he awake?
- When the baby wakes up during the night, who tends to the baby and how is the baby put back to sleep?
- When you can't get your baby to stop crying at night, what do you do? (Provide other options if the parents say they bring the baby in bed with them, lay on the couch together, etc.).
- Do you ever fall asleep while feeding your baby in the middle of the night?
- What do you understand about the dangers of co-sleeping with infants?
- Who assists with caring for your child? Are they aware of safe sleep practices and environment?
- In what ways do you and your family monitor nighttime sleeping and naps?
- What do you and family members do when your child awakens?
- How is your sleep and overall schedule impacted by your child's sleeping rituals?
- What do you expect from your family and caregivers when they assume responsibility for the child's sleep?
- Who has been most helpful and supportive when you have questions or concerns about your child's sleep?
- What do you carry over from your own family of origin that you believe is helpful in the sleep routine?
- What have you decided to change from what you previously learned in your family about safe sleep?

Remember that there is increased risk of unsafe sleep deaths with caregiver substance use. Consider other safety and risk factors and the needs of the caregivers and child and assess how these might impact the safe sleep practice and environment.

- It is important to assess and reinforce safe sleep at each visit and with each caregiver.
- Observe the infant's sleeping environment crib/basinet free of hazards, sleep routine

Safe Sleep Policy: http://www.ct.gov/dcf/lib/dcf/policy/pdf/44120800.pdf

Safe Sleep Practice Guide: http://www.ct.gov/dcf/lib/dcf/policy/pdf/Safe Sleep - practice guide FINAL.pdf

A similar line of "appreciative inquiry" can be useful in discussing meal times, curfews, family chores, family roles, coordination of schedules, supervision of young children and so forth. Along with observations of the physical environment, entering into conversations with families in this way is a method of identifying the family's routines, structure, existing strengths, and areas that would benefit from change.

Note: Research suggests that are child whose parents express difficulties feeding the child or report the baby cries for prolonged periods are at greater risk of abuse.

Household composition

Find out who lives in the home or visits regularly and what role they have in the care of the child, including any potential trauma history that the child may have experienced with specific visitors.

Note: The presence of unrelated adults, especially males, is associated with an increased risk of child abuse and death.

- It is important to assess whether the home has age-appropriate child-proofing. Safety Tips: http://www.safe-kids.org/safetytips)
- Does the caregiver have access to an appropriate child car seat and have knowledge about use and installation? (http://www.safercar.gov/parents/CarSeats/Car-Seat-Safety.htm)

Note: Observe whether the child is contained in a car seat during visits with the family.

April 1, 2016 (New) 28 | Page

Living Conditions and Cleanliness of Home

Pay attention to:

- Overcrowded conditions. This should raise concerns about safe sleep environment does the infant sleep alone
 or with adults? Is there adequate bedding and furniture? Is the crib being used for storage? Is there a separate
 sleeping area for the child?
- Infestations (bugs, rodents).
- Unsanitary living conditions or hazards, open or broken or missing windows or screens.
- Is the furniture too close to the windows? (Screens will not keep a child from falling out of a window.)
- Window shades with long cords may pose a choking hazard for young children.
- Look for drug paraphernalia, weapons and indications of gang involvement, as all raise concerns about safety (the association between safe sleep and substance abuse is significant).
- Are there toys or other objects in the home to help stimulate growth, development, and play?

Household Safety Checklist: (http://kidshealth.org/parent/firstaid safe/home/household checklist.html)

Financial Conditions and Poverty

Infants and toddlers in low-income families are twice as likely to be exposed to abuse and neglect.

- Be aware of financial challenges and poverty which research has shown increases exposure to abuse and neglect and results in poorer developmental outcomes.
- Does the family receive WIC?
- Does the family have an adequate supply of food, diapers, formula, wipes, and clothing? Are they aware of resources in their own community if they need these items (e.g., diaper banks, food pantries)?

NOTE: Poverty alone does not constitute abuse or neglect. Poverty, in addition to other risk factors, increases the likelihood of young children experiencing abuse or neglect. A thorough assessment of risk factors and their impact on the child and the family is essential.

Access to Social Supports and Isolation

Lack of family and community support has been determined to increase the risk of abuse for infants and toddlers. Parents who are experiencing significant stress may have limited peer, family or service supports and may be less inclined to seek out social contact. Many families may be reticent to initiate contact with family members due to "a falling out" and concern that they would be denied help.

Promoting and enhancing social supports for families with infants and toddlers is a critical step in reducing the likelihood of abuse and neglect. In fact, it may be the most critical factor in the family's success.

Do the caregivers have connections and support and are they willing to utilize these resources for support? The lack of family and community support has been identified as a contributing factor to increased risk of abuse during infancy.

Families with young children are often socially isolated especially if they have a child who is exhibiting behavioral issues or developmental delays. Exploring the family's natural supports can prompt the family to begin thinking differently about their support system.

Caregiver Factors – It is important to assess risk factors for primary caregivers, all adult household members, and those having direct access to the child.

If there are concerns related to substance use, mental health or IPV, please consult your Supervisor and RRG.

April 1, 2016 (New) 29 | Page

Substance Use

Children are at a much higher risk of harm during infancy when one or more of their parents or caregivers or others living in the home are using substances. It is important to assess the impact of their substance use on their capacity to provide constant and consistent care and supervision for infants and toddlers. It is also important to assess to what extent others using substances in the home present risks for infants and young children in the home environment.

Remember: there is a relationship between substance use and sleep-related deaths so it is important that this be addressed fully with caregivers and documented in the protocol and case narratives. Consultation with RRG staff is recommended to assess risk and identify appropriate treatment interventions.

- Assess immediate caregivers as well as others in household.
- Ask open-ended questions and observe individuals and the environment.

The following questions can be used to gather information to determine the level of substance use in the home and whether further assessment is needed. Two or more positive responses indicate possible abuse or dependence and the need for further assessment. Answering "no" to all questions on the UNCOPE* does not rule out the possibility of an alcohol- or drug-related problem.

- **U** = have you continued to **use** alcohol or drugs longer than you intended? Or, have you spent more time drinking or **using** than you intended?
- N = have you ever neglected some of your usual responsibilities because of alcohol or drug use?
- C = have you ever wanted to stop using or cut down alcohol or drugs but couldn't?
- = has your family, a friend, or anyone else ever told you they objected to your alcohol or drug use?
- **P** = have you ever found yourself **preoccupied** with wanting to use alcohol or drugs? Or, have you frequently found yourself thinking about a drink or getting high?
- E = have you ever used alcohol or drugs to relieve **emotional** discomfort such as sadness, anger or boredom?

*A workgroup was established to review our Structured Decision Making Tools (SDM) and develop specific recommendations to enhance the quality of our assessments. After conducting considerable research, the workgroup is recommending utilization of UNCOPE. This tool has been implemented in multiple jurisdictions and has demonstrated success in screening adults for substance use.

- Observation
 - o of individuals do they appear to be under the influence?
 - o of environment is there drug paraphernalia?
- Screen for Infant Exposure to Substances
 - Did you continue to smoke, drink, or use drugs while pregnant? Can you recall how often? Are you aware of the impact?
 - Positive toxicology
 - o Signs of withdrawal
 - o Medical complications
 - Special health care needs including developmental delays
- Information gathering if a primary caregiver is on Medication Assisted Treatment, obtain a Release of Information to discuss with the provider. Consultation with the RRG Substance Abuse Specialist is recommended either prior to or following the call with the provider.

Determine:

- a. Does substance use affect the caregiver's ability to make sound judgments regarding the welfare of the child?
- b. What behaviors are resulting or have resulted from the caregiver's substance use that may put the child at risk?
- c. What behaviors or actions have been taken by the caregiver to manage issues related to substance use?

April 1, 2016 (New) 30 | Page

Parental substance abuse is often exacerbated by other risk factors, including but not limited to:

- a. Poverty
- b. History of Trauma
- c. Young age
- d. Poor pre-natal care and nutrition
- e. Intimate Partner Violence (IPV)
- f. Homelessness
- g. Unemployment
- h. Poor physical health
- i. History of DCF or DDS involvement as a child
- j. Mental illness
- k. Stress
- I. Low self-esteem
- m. Poor parenting skills
- n. Criminal activity and incarceration

CAPTA Requirement

CAPTA requires that health care providers provide notification to DCF of *all* infants born substance-exposed. In cases in which a practitioner suspects abuse or neglect, a referral consistent with mandated reporting must be made. It is then the responsibility of CPS staff to assess the level of risk to the child and other children in the family and determine whether the circumstances constitute child abuse or neglect under state law. In cases involving a substance-exposed infant, DCF is required to develop a "plan for safe care." This plan is developed in collaboration with the family, the discharging birthing hospital, and potential service providers.

DCF High Risk Newborn Policy: http://www.ct.gov/dcf/cwp/view.asp?a=2639&Q=394016

For more information regarding substance use, please access the link below for the Clinical and Community Consultation Support Division (CCCSD) SharePoint site: http://bhm.dcf.ct.gov/sites/BHM/SU/SitePages/Home.aspx (Note: This link is not accessible to those outside of DCF.)

Mental Health

Research indicates that caregivers who have a history of depression, postpartum depression, anxiety, delusional thoughts or past history of suicide attempts are at heightened risk, particularly in the following conditions:

- If a parent or caregiver symptoms significantly impair daily functioning or specific parenting capacities such as responsiveness, judgment, and stress management;
- If a parent or caregiver experiences mood swings, appears emotionally unavailable to an infant or young child, or does not feel attached to the child;
- If a parent or caregiver displays delusional beliefs or hallucinations involving the child;
- The are co-occurring risk factors such as intimate partner violence, substance use; or
- If a parent or caregiver is homicidal or suicidal.

If one of these conditions exist and there is no alternative caregiver to meet the needs of the child, consultation with the Supervisor and RRG is required to assist in safety planning efforts (including the need for a CR-CFTM), identifying treatment needs, and resources for both the child and parent.

For babies and infants, maternal depression may hamper the mother's capacity to empathize with and respond appropriately to her baby's needs, as well as limit the level of interaction and engagement between mother and child, often resulting in an insecure attachment. The symptoms of depression - low energy, sadness, sleep problems, poor memory – can impact a mother's ability to fully engage and benefit from services that are ultimately going to be beneficial to the child. Social isolation and lack of concrete resources (e.g., childcare and stable housing) often contribute to and sustain maternal depression. Promoting the family's protective factors can further support the family and enhance child well-being.

April 1, 2016 (New) 31 | Page

CPS history

Parents with CPS history as a child may have limited exposure to positive parenting.

- Assess how the family's past history is impacting their current level of functioning. Look for trends or patterns in behavior, relationships, etc.
- Families with prior CPS history and involvement with DCF as a child are more likely to maltreat their children.
- Caregivers with prior history of abusing or neglecting a child are more likely to be identified as a perpetrator.

Utilizing genograms to create a family blueprint provides opportunities to better understand the family's past, present and future.

Recognizing our co-workers as collateral contacts, as well as providers who may have worked with the family at different periods of time, will help us learn more about family dynamics, relationships and connections. Reach out to Adolescent Social Workers who may have had the parent on their caseload as an adolescent. Learn from past relationships and dynamics to better inform present and future planning.

Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) and Domestic Violence

Research has clearly demonstrated that infants and toddlers are at higher risk in households in which IPV is present. The following open-ended questions can be used to determine if IPV is an area of concern. When IPV is identified, consult with your Supervisor and IPV Consultant.

For Caregivers:

- Tell me about your relationship.
- How do you and your partner get along?
- Every couple has disagreements. How do you and your partner resolve conflict?
- What happens when you disagree?
- How are your arguments resolved?
- Do either of you yell at each other? Push or shove each other?
- Do arguments escalate to the point of hitting each other? Throwing something? Threatening to hurt each other?
- Has anyone ever called the police when you were fighting?
- Was there violence or fighting during the pregnancy?
- Does your partner restrict visitors or not allow anyone to visit the home?
- Is your child present during arguments? If so, how does your child react when there are arguments in the home? Do you notice any changes in the child's behavior after an argument?

Observation:

- Weapons
- Holes in walls
- Broken items and furniture

For more information regarding IPV, please access the link below for the Clinical and Community Consultation Support Division (CCCSD) SharePoint site: http://bhm.dcf.ct.gov/sites/BHM/IPV/SitePages/Home.aspx (Note: This link is not accessible to those outside of DCF.)

Parental Age

Younger age is associated with increased risk of abuse and neglect. This should be considered in your assessment of the family.

Trauma History

See Practice Guide (page 10) and Appendices (page 4) for more information.

April 1, 2016 (New) 32 | Page

Poor Parenting Skills and Unrealistic Expectations

Unrealistic expectations, lack of sensitivity or responsiveness to the child's needs, rigidity towards the infant's behavior, poor parent-child attachment and lack of knowledge of typical child development or behaviors have all been associated with increased risk of abuse.

Parent: Ask about:

- Physical health
- Cognitive limitations (see section in Practice Guide on Cognitive Limitations)
- Support systems and utilization of supports
- Parent perception of the child and his or her description of the child (e.g., identify three words to describe your child)
- Knowledge of child development feeding, nutrition, expectations, supervision appropriate to child's development
- Does the parent have any concerns about their children?
- Assess the parents' feelings about being a parent
- Assess the individual needs of the parents and evaluate their capacity to parent and respond to the needs of their children

Parent/Child Attachment and Interaction / Caregiver Attachment

The following should be observed during all home visits and documented.

- Is there frequent or infrequent contact (note verbal and physical interactions)?
- How does the caregiver respond to the child's cues? Is there a muted response? Intrusive response? Positive emotion? Failure to recognize cues?
- Is the caregiver able to comfort the child when distressed?
- Does the caregiver initiate interaction? Does the caregiver ignore, demean, criticize or yell at the baby? Does the caregiver often hug, praise, or kiss the child?
- Is the caregiver gentle or rough with the child?
- Does the caregiver seem to delight in the play or accomplishments of the child?
- What is the pair's capacity to play together?
- Does the caregiver present as controlling and unwilling to allow the child to explore?
- Does the caregiver ignore the child when the child "returns" from exploring or not pay attention to what the child is doing?
- Is the caregiver physically and psychologically accessible? Does he or she hold the child close to comfort?
- Evidence of "serve and return" interactions? (Is it evident that the parent responds to the child and the child responds to the parent in an ongoing manner?)

See page 9 of this Practice Guide for information on serve and return.

Child's Attachment to Caregivers

- What is the child's affect when interacting with the caregiver (joyful, angry, relaxed, engaged, somber, sad, withdrawn, or anxious?)?
- Does the child make an effort to physically connect with the caregiver? Does the child initiate negative contact (kicking, hitting, etc.)?
- Does the child seek out the caregiver for help? Do they hold mutual eye gaze? Does the child ignore the caregiver or attempt to solve problems on his or her own?
- Does the child become whiny and demanding without calming? Is the child difficult to soothe? Does the child actively seek comfort from the caregiver?

April 1, 2016 (New) 33 | Page

RED FLAGS: Child averts eye contact, arches, appears stiff or rigid, displays irregular breathing, Rocks back and forth, is hypervigilant, or is willing to go to anyone (strangers).

Note: Culture has a major influence on parenting beliefs, how good parenting is defined, values, expectations, and behaviors, as well as on children's relationships with their parents. Asking questions and understanding cultural differences in these areas is important in the overall assessment of the family.

Child Factors

A number of child-specific risk factors have been identified in the research as follows:

1. **Premature and low birth rate**: Babies born prematurely or those who have a low or very low birth weight are at greater risk of harm from abuse and neglect. This increased risk may be due to infant health problems and the parent's inability to handle this additional responsibility while dealing with many other issues.

The factors that increase the likelihood of premature birth or low birth weight and impact postpartum care include:

- a. Poverty
- b. Social isolation
- c. Intimate Partner Violence (IPV)
- d. Stress and depression
- e. Maternal smoking or substance use
- f. Poor nutrition
- g. Poor pre-natal care
- 2. **Pre-natal exposure to alcohol and drugs**: Research has found that infants born with exposure to maternal substance abuse are at higher risk of abuse and neglect. This increased risk may be due to the combination of the infant's complex health and care needs (including the impact upon the developing brain) and impaired parenting capacity where substance use continues following birth.

Note: Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Disorder (FASD) may be noted at birth or at well child visits because of facial dysmorphia (though this is only present in the most severe cases of prenatal alcohol exposure). It is important that there be ongoing attention to developmental milestones and social and emotional behaviors throughout a child's early years by the pediatrician and other health care professionals. A high percentage of children entering foster care are on the FASD continuum and it is often not until very late, *e.g.*, when a child enters school, that the developmental delays are recognized and often misdiagnosed.

3. **Disability:** Research has identified that young children with speech, language, or learning difficulties are more likely to be involved in the child welfare system.

Child Vulnerability

Children from birth to age 5 are always vulnerable. Infants and toddlers are particularly vulnerable to the emotional effects of abuse and neglect. Some children are more vulnerable to the effects of child maltreatment than others. In general, very young children (infants, toddlers, and preschoolers), pre-verbal children, and children with developmental delays or physical or medical conditions are more likely to experience physical abuse and neglect by their caregivers.

Child vulnerability is not based on age alone. Child vulnerability is the degree to which a child can avoid or modify the impact of threats of harm. The following must be considered when assessing for child vulnerability:

- Child's ability to protect self: some children can and do find ways to avoid harm. A child who is able to escape from an assault or call for help has increased his or her own ability to self-protect. Children who cannot get away from harm or cannot defend themselves (physically or emotionally) have increased vulnerability.
- **Child's ability to communicate**: Pre-verbal children cannot express themselves or their frustrations verbally. Physical, emotional, and developmental conditions impact the child's ability to tell others.

April 1, 2016 (New) 34 | Page

- Child's developmental delays or disabilities: Children with developmental delays or disabilities may have reduced coping skills, and may be less able to defend themselves or disclose their distress. There is increased vulnerability in children with developmental disabilities. They may be more isolated, may lack knowledge of boundaries, and may have increased dependency on caregivers. A child who is cognitively limited may be vulnerable due to a limited ability to recognize danger, to know who can be trusted, to meet his or her basic needs, to communicate concerns and to seek protection.
- **Child's behavior or temperament**: Children with emotional, mental health, or behavioral problems may cause feelings of stress, frustration, and failure on the part of caregivers and may provoke an inappropriate action.
- **Child's behavioral and emotional needs**: Children with behavioral health or emotional issues may have needs beyond what the parent can provide.
- Child's physical special needs: Children with physical challenges are more dependent on others to provide care and meet their special and basic needs. Parents may be ill-equipped emotionally or financially to handle the child's needs or lack the protective capacities that are required.
- **Child's visibility**: Children who are isolated, do not have extended family or community support, or who are not routinely seen by others outside the family may be more vulnerable.

Primary Care Visits

Primary care visits provide an opportunity for someone who is familiar with the child and who has the expertise to assess the child's overall health and development to see the child. It is important for the Social Worker to determine whether the family has followed through with all scheduled pediatric appointments. If there have been missed appointments, it is important that the child be seen promptly. The primary care physician can determine whether the child is doing well and identify areas of concern, including developmental concerns and evidence of trauma.

Once a family has signed a release, it is important that the medical form be sent to the pediatric office quickly to ensure medical information is obtained prior to case closing. There may be cases in which having direct communication with the pediatrician or pediatric office is preferable. This can be discussed in supervision. This communication may identify concerns or risk factors within the family that may not be communicated in the documentation they provide to DCF.

- Ask about concerns with the family
- Ask about concerns with the child, including development
- Ask about evidence of trauma or adverse events

If the Social Worker not been able to observe the child awake or interacting with the caregivers during visits, he or she must speak to someone who has (either the child's primary care provider or early intervention specialist).

Timely and ongoing pediatric physical and dental care is essential to maintaining and ensuring good health throughout the first eight years of life. Tooth decay is the most common chronic childhood disease, affecting 11% of young children between one and five years old. ¹⁸

Infants: Ask about:

- Pre-natal care and exposure to drugs or alcohol and birth history
- Potential health problems child born HIV, HBV positive
- Trauma history and adverse events
- Infant care: routines (bathing, feeding, sleeping)
 - o Is the parent having difficulty breastfeeding?
 - o Is the parent struggling to feed the baby?
 - o Is the baby gaining weight?
 - o Is the baby crying excessively?

April 1, 2016 (New) 35 | Page

¹⁸ National Survey of Children's Health, NSCH 2011/12. Data Resource Center for Child and Adolescent Health website.

Older Infants: Ask about:

- Behaviors (social, exhibiting aggression, exploring, becoming more independent
- Sleeping, eating issues
- Trauma history and adverse events

High Risk Newborns

The Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) requires hospitals to notify DCF of infants born to mothers with positive toxicology and in other high-risk circumstances. Please access the High Risk Newborns policy at: http://www.ct.gov/dcf/cwp/view.asp?a=2639&Q=394016

Development

For more information, see this age-specific development guide, particularly the Missouri example: https://uwmadi-son.app.box.com/s/tzm58e4ss1hc1db02y5dwmazf7ab5pz5

DCF Response

When assessing a report for response, the CPS history of the alleged perpetrator as an adult or child as well as those individuals having access to the child is important to collect, categorize and define in order to have a clear understanding of child safety and risk and a clear understanding of the family's protective factors.

The assessment for children 0-5 must be viewed through the lenses of child development and trauma and from an attachment perspective.

Initial supervisory consultation

Intake staff should be utilizing the direction provided by the assigning supervisor of the case as a spring board to understand the complexities facing the family and how that information is used to make an accurate assessment. More important is the need to look at current history, including trauma history, and critically review past reports for areas of concern due to re-occurring themes and patterns. All pertinent case history should be documented in this initial supervisory conference narrative.

0-5 follow-up supervision

Once it has been identified that a household has children within this age range, it is incumbent upon the Social Worker to have a follow-up discussion with his or her supervisor that takes into account the following information:

- ages of the child(ren) in the home;
- age of caregiver;
- developmental milestone(s);
- non-custodial parent-child interaction and relationship;
- care and supervision of the child;
- sleeping arrangements;
- medical, psychological (e.g., attachment styles), cognitive and behavioral indicators or concerns;
- CPS history and impact on current situation;
- trauma history;
- parental risk factors: IPV, substance use, mental health and impact on parenting;
- the family's protective factors and how they can mitigate concerns;
- the parent's exposure to ACE and the parent's own trauma history;
- individuals frequenting the home and risk they may present; and
- the child's overall physical appearance.

April 1, 2016 (New) 36 | Page

Frequency of visitation with the family will be determined in supervision based on presenting issues and risk factors. Consultation and support from the Supervisor and Manager and RRG staff is critical given the vulnerability of this population and risk factors that may exist within the family.

Special Assessments: A thorough discussion of FASD (Fetal Alcohol Syndrome), Safe Sleep, Shaken Baby Syndrome, High Risk Newborns, fatalities, CAPTA Part C and other identified special concerns should occur and be documented by the Social Worker. Social Workers must obtain pre-natal information from the mother's health care provider in all high-risk newborn cases.

Documentation: Throughout the intake, all information, assessments, observations, consultations and supervisory guidance should be clearly documented in a manner that illustrates DCF's involvement and the rationale for case decisions.

"Unknown information is different than unasked questions." There needs to be a clear assessment of risk factors and safety concerns and how DCF is addressing them.

See Documentation Guide for more information: http://cw.dcf.ct.gov/sites/cw/default.aspx (Note: This link is not accessible to those outside of DCF.)

Birth to Three System

The federal Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) and Individual with Disabilities Act (IDEA) require that states have provisions and procedures for the referral and screening of children under the age of three who are the subject of a substantiated case of child abuse or neglect to early intervention services. Those children who are the subject of a substantiated cases and for whom there is a developmental concern or qualifying diagnosis (Down Syndrome, autism, blindness, deafness, etc.) are referred to Birth to Three, Connecticut's early intervention program administered through the Office of Early Childhood. Birth to Three is accessed through Child Development Infoline (CDI) (1-800-505-7000).

Upon receipt of the referral, interventionists will go to the home to complete a holistic developmental evaluation of the child. They assess the following domains:

- adaptive;
- communication;
- cognitive;
- physical (including motor, hearing and vision); and
- social/emotional.

Eligibility for services is based on the level of delay the child is experiencing and is typically provided in the home or other natural environment. The qualifying levels of delay are:

- < 2 standard deviations in one area of development, OR
- < 1.5 standard deviation in two or more areas of development or established condition.

Infants and Toddlers diagnosed with FASD are automatically eligible for Birth to Three. Children with a diagnosis of Fetal Alcohol Effects are eligible when they show developmental delays. See Policy 34-14-1, "Referrals to Early Intervention Services."

In addition, state legislation requires that DCF screen those children age 3 or younger who have been substantiated as victims of abuse or neglect and those children age 3 or younger who are being served through the DCF's Family Assessment Response for both developmental and social-emotional delays. If developmental or social-emotional delays are identified, DCF refers the child to the Birth to Three Program for evaluation. If the child does not qualify for Birth to Three services, DCF then must refer the child to Help Me Grow administered by the Family Support Services Division of the Office of Early

April 1, 2016 (New) 37 | Page

Childhood or to a similar prevention program. Such screenings are administered twice annually, unless the child has been found to be eligible to receive services from the Birth to Three program.

Help Me Grow is accessed through Child Development Infoline (CDI) and serves families of young children "at risk" for developmental or behavioral problems. It connects families to existing programs in the community to provide support, including Family Resource Centers, home visiting programs, and other parent supports. In addition, Help Me Grow offers developmental tracking and monitoring through mail-out questionnaires (Ages and Stages) sent to parents at various intervals. This program encourages parents to partner with child health care providers to actively monitor their child's developmental progress. This is accomplished through the questionnaires and age-appropriate activities designed to develop the child's motor, communication and social skills, and promote the parent/child bond. The program can remain involved with the family and track a child's development from 2 months of age up to 5 ½ years. Parents are required to complete and submit the questionnaires and feedback is provided. If concerns exist, program staff will assist the family in securing appropriate services, including evaluations.

QUALITY EARLY EDUCATION AND CARE

For young children experiencing trauma or living under less than optimal conditions, it is important that they regularly participate in developmental and learning opportunities that provide stimulation and individualized supports such as early childhood programs that are trauma-informed and provide appropriate interventions. While childcare subsidies are often seen as the way to access care for young children during the day so parents and foster parents can work, all children, particularly children who've experienced trauma, are best served by early care and education programs designed to promote and foster development and learning.

Quality early care and education offers both nurturing caregiving and learning opportunities to infants, toddlers and preschoolers.

Quality early childhood centers and licensed family child care homes assess and monitor each child's development and base their daily activities on developmentally-appropriate curricula.

Quality ECE programs meet quality standards and maintain compliance either with federal Head Start Performance Standards or Accreditation by the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) or the National Association for Family Child Care (NAFCC). Programs and providers are embedded within networks of social and community services so that children and families have ready access to the full range of additional supports they may need such as ECCP, Birth to Three, TANF or medical and dental homes. Additionally, their staff have received training in serving vulnerable families in areas such as infant mental health, endorsement and reflective supervision, trauma, intimate partner violence, etc.

For some families of infants and toddlers, *quality early care and education* can be provided *through home visiting* programs, such as Early Head Start, which also meet quality standards.

Many of these programs are free or subsidized similar to childcare subsidies. Access to *quality early care and education programs and providers* is easily obtained by contacting 211/Child Care Infoline or Child Development Infoline or through active participation on local DCF-Head Start Partnership community teams.

Access to Preschool Programs for Children in DCF Care and Custody (Special Act 14-22)

Early childhood interventions optimize children's curiosity and readiness for school. Involvement of children in preschool programs has been found to offer important foundational learning experiences. Children who attend high-quality early learning programs are shown to perform better not only academically, but throughout their lifetime.

Studies have shown both the short- and long-term impact of quality early learning programs.

April 1, 2016 (New) 38 | Page

Positive impact from high-quality preschool programs can last a lifetime and help children become:

- more likely to succeed academically;
- less likely to require special education or remediation;
- more proficient at reading and math;
- more likely to graduate from high school;
- more likely to attend and complete college; and
- less likely to commit crimes.

DCF Policy 45-1, "Early Childhood Education," is intend to assist Social Workers with maximizing the enrollment of children in eligible programs.

Eligible preschool is defined in state statute as:

- a school readiness program, as defined in Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-16p;
- a preschool program offered by a local or regional board of education or regional educational service center;
- a preschool program accredited by the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC);
- a Head Start program; or
- any preschool program that DCF deems suitable to meet the needs of the child.

Note: For children in DCF care, the Social Worker should visit the child in his or her daycare or early childhood care setting.

PARENTS WITH DISABILITIES

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) defines a person with a disability as a person who has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities. When a parent has a disability it is important not to generalize or make assumptions about his or her parental capacity.

Disabled parents may need support to develop the understanding, resources, skills and experience to meet the needs of their children. Such support is particularly needed where they experience additional stressors such as having a learning disabled child, physical violence, poor physical or mental health, substance misuse, social isolation, inadequate housing, poverty or a history of growing up in DCF care. It is these additional stressors, when combined with disabilities, that are most likely to lead to concerns about the care their child or children may receive.

Quality assessments are important because research shows that people with disabilities are more vulnerable to victimization and often establish relationships with partners who may abuse their children or have their own substance use or mental health problems. Consideration must also be given to the discrepancy between the parent's knowledge, skills, experiences, and supports and the parent's ability to learn and understand the needs of his or her children over time. Children with developmental delays or medical issues are particularly vulnerable.

Assessing the family's protective factors is critically important throughout DCF intervention to help assess the strengths and needs of the family

Documentation should include:

- Description of characteristics and patterns of a parent's functioning in adult and caregiving roles
- Strengths and natural supports that help the caregiver meet his or her parenting responsibilities
- Explain possible challenges and barriers the parent may have as a result of the disability
- Identify person-based and environmental conditions likely to impact behavior or parenting (positive and negative)
- Describe the children's functioning and needs in relation to the parent's ability
- Provide concrete directions for intervention

April 1, 2016 (New) 39 | Page

Ongoing Assessment questions:

- Tell me about your personal support system.
- Have you been able to obtain basic needs? If not, what are your supports to help you obtain basic needs?
- Who are your professional supports?
- Tell me about what it takes to help you make it through the day?
- Describe your parenting skills. How do you parent? Do you understand the needs of your child and are you able to manage them presently? How do you discipline your child? What do you think you need now and in the future?
- Is your child in an early care and education setting, family daycare, or early intervention program? (If not, help the parent access an appropriate program.)
- What services does your family currently receive? (Explore whether the family can be referred to a home visiting program and what their history is with services, especially in-home supports.)
- Do you receive public benefits? DDS services? (If not, help them get it.)
- Have you ever attended a parent support group?
- Are there other resources for your child or supports that you may not have thought about?
- How much schooling did you complete?

Parents with Cognitive Limitations (PWCL) - Special Considerations 19

Although the number of families headed by a parent with cognitive limitations is uncertain, and identification of these families is a challenge, it is estimated that at least one third of families in the current child welfare system are headed by a parent with cognitive limitations. These limitations are not limited to particular diagnoses (ADHD) or IQ scores; rather these limitations in executive functioning run along a continuum that may result from brain injury, fetal alcohol syndrome, lead poisoning, trauma or unknown causes.

People with cognitive limitations may have difficulty with the executive functioning abilities listed below:

- Exercising judgment
- Planning
- Organizing
- Remembering
- Regulating emotion
- Scheduling and keeping appointments
- Setting limits and following through

Case example provided by Dorothy Zyla, Social Worker, New Britain.

April 1, 2016 (New) 40 | Page

¹⁹Acknowledgments and Resources

[&]quot;Building Foundations: A Curriculum Guide for Supported Parenting," Bridget McCusker & Bernadette Irwin, Kennedy Krieger Institute (no date).

[&]quot;Sunny Side of the Street Curriculum," http://www.irised.com/products/sunny-side-of-the-street. Owned by The Connecticut Center for Prevention, Wellness and Recovery, 1-800-232-4424.

[&]quot;The Health & Wellness Program: A Parenting Curriculum for Families at Risk," Alexander J. Tymchuk, Brookes Publishing Company, October 2005.

[&]quot;Discovering the Parent's Language of Learning: An Educational Approach to Supporting Parents with Cognitive Limitations," Mark Sweet, Wisconsin Council on Developmental Disabilities.

[&]quot;HELP: When the Parent is Handicapped," Stephanie Parks, (ed.), VORT Corporation, 1984.

These parents may be unidentified or may be misidentified as mentally ill or as substance users. When they cannot meet the expectations of the available programs and services, these parents are often labeled as "noncompliant" or "uncooperative" and the consequences of these labels may have tragic consequences, including loss of the home or removal of the children. Isolation and lack of transportation exacerbate these problems. Maneuvering public transportation alone requires the ability to plan ahead in order to reach the desired location by the desired time, read bus schedules, organize the children's clothing and supplies (diapers, bottles, toys, games); locate exact change, overcome the fear of getting lost and tell time. Parents with cognitive limitations tend to think more concretely than others and time is a very abstract concept.

For example, providers working with Candace had difficulty communicating with her. They would deem her as non-compliant because she was not showing up or often late for appointments and because she failed to complete tasks requested of her.

Working with Families with Young Children Headed by a Parent with Cognitive Limitations

1) Assess how the parent learns and then use concrete aids, (e.g., calendars, posters, pictures) "A person may not understand what it means to 'put four ounces in the bottle' but might understand 'fill it to here' when 'here' has a textural difference that can be **felt** on the bottle or a piece of tape that can be **seen."** (Mark Sweet)

The first thing I did was obtain a planner for Candace. I went to a home visit and we sat down together and called all her providers and wrote her appointments down. A few weeks later, I arrived at her home and she had a large wall calendar on her closet door that serves as a big reminder of her daily appointments because she only travels with the small planner I gave her. She copies everything from her small planner to the big calendar and every morning and evening she walks by the wall calendar and can check what she has planned. I also put everything in writing for Candace, usually bullet points and step-by-step directions.

Other tools include:

- a. Tape recorded messages
- b. Checklists (adapted with pictures)
- c. Schedules
- d. Digital Clocks
- e. Alarms
- f. Timers
- g. Labels
- h. Notebooks
- i. Maps
- j. Magnet Boards
- 2) Tell, demonstrate and then give the parent an opportunity to practice the skill or invite him or her to do it with you. Be careful not to take over when modeling parenting behavior because the parent may think he or she will never do it as well as you.
- 3) Help the parents have reasonable expectations of the children's abilities by sharing child development information and helping the parents understand that children learn through play by using the following strategies:
 - **a.** Provide a developmental chart and emphasize that not all children develop at the same rate.
 - **b.** Tell a story from the child's point of view and act it out with the parent. The "child" should tell the parent what he or she needs, likes, doesn't like, etc. Make it personal. Tape the story so the parent can listen to it over and over again. If the child is very young or nonverbal, speaking the child's needs can help.
 - c. Demonstrate an activity or use specific toys with parents and children and talk about what skills they help children develop. Toys can be made from common household objects (e.g., wooden spoons, pans, cardboard boxes). Some parents will need support in tolerating the "mess" that sometimes comes with play.

April 1, 2016 (New) 41 | Page

EXAMPLE: A parent tells you that she doesn't understand why her 28-month-old child does not know her colors yet. She tells you that they have been going over it ever since she was one and some days she gets it right and other d ays, she gets every color wrong.

WHAT YOU CAN DO TO HELP

- Review a developmental chart and determine the age at which a child can reasonably be expected to perform the task the parent is concerned about.
- Help the parent understand that the child not knowing her colors at 28 months is normal and she should not be concerned.
- Show the parent ways she can play with her daughter and name colors without pressuring the child to identify them accurately.
- Identify the areas in which the child is on target to help the parent understand that the child is progressing normally and to validate the parenting. ("She isn't learning her colors, but she just learned to hop on one foot, did you teach her that?")
- 1) Stress the importance of parents' communication with babies and toddlers in creating a strong bond between the parent and the baby as well as helping the growing child have the verbal tools needed to succeed in getting his or her needs met at home and in school. Encourage the parent to talk and respond to the child's sounds, as well as facial expressions and body movements.

You might ask: "What do you like to do with your children?" (If reading is not mentioned, ask, "Do you look at books with your children? Do you read to them? Do they read to you?") Let parents know that they can "read" to their children by describing what's on the page. For example, pointing out the colors on a page, talking about what is happening in the picture, pointing at and naming what you see. These activities can help with language development and foster attachment.

Stress how important it is for parents to attend to or interact with their children and for parents to help toddlers explore in a safe environment. Help parents understand that they create safety by their vigilance. Car seats and swings are appropriate for short periods of time.

Routines help establish a sense of predictability for children and help parents organize their family's activities for the day and create more order in their lives. The Sunny Side of the Street Curriculum (www.irised.com/products/sunny-side-of-the-street) is a wonderful tool that incorporates music to help parents and children learn about routines for bedtimes, meals, and school readiness. A discussion of routines is particularly important when working with children who have experienced trauma.

Stress impacts executive functioning in all of us. The stress of living in poverty and unsafe environments exacerbates the impact on executive functioning.

Working with Candace was like riding a roller coaster. She would call me frequently for everything! If I were not at my desk to answer her phone call, she would leave numerous voice messages; each message was left with increased intensity and agitation in her voice. Once she got me on the phone, which was usually only a few hours later, she would curse me out and state that I never help her with anything. Once she would calm down, I would ask her what exactly she needed that caused her so much distress and she would say, "I want to know when my next visit with my kids is," or she would ask me for her therapist's phone number - again. Non-emergent issues stressed her out immensely.

Shower parents with praise. Many parents with cognitive limitations have experienced a lifetime of people telling them or assuming that they are "stupid" or "incapable." Observe what the parent can do, look for strengths and praise generously.

I encouraged her by telling her that she was a strong woman and that I knew she was capable of doing great things. I praised Candace for everything! Whether it was getting to her visit on time with her kids or cleaning her house. Her

April 1, 2016 (New) 42 | Page

providers started doing the same. They praised her for attending therapy sessions on time and taking her medication as prescribed. Her APRN provided her with prescription boxes and would fill them for the month with her.

Very quickly, we all noticed an almost "different" Candace. She smiled more and yelled less. She expressed excitement about her pregnancy and voiced looking forward to having the chance to do things right this time. She even said "thank you" a time or two!

Parents need to know that separation anxiety is normal for young children. The children will learn that their parents will return when left with someone else and that it is normal for young children to develop fears.

Remind parents to always say good-bye when they are leaving and to give the child a special toy or "security blanket" to help make the transition easier.

Identify and help the family to identify significant adults to help build a supportive network, e.g., Family Resource Centers, Birth to Three, DDS, faith-based communities, Head Start and other early care and education providers and relatives. Pull everyone together who is working with the family. These parents often have multiple providers in the home and it is not unusual for the family to get conflicting requests. Remember: increasing the number of services doesn't ensure better outcomes. If the providers are not skilled at working with parents with limitations the services can feel very fragmented and overwhelming and the provider and the family can become very frustrated.

Be direct in your communication. Documentation should include:

- Description of characteristics and patterns of a parent's functioning in adult and caregiving roles
- Strengths and natural supports that help the caregiver meet his or her parenting responsibilities
- Explain possible challenges and barriers the parent may have as a result of the cognitive limitation
- Identify person-based and environmental conditions likely to impact behavior or parenting (positive and negative)
- Describe the children's functioning and needs in relation to the parent's ability
- Provide concrete directions for intervention

PARENTS WHO WERE IN DCF CARE AS CHILDREN

As indicated by the ACEs, many of the parents with whom we work have their own histories of childhood trauma. Those experiences, and the impact on risk-related behaviors, can result in a parent's inability to form consistently nurturing bonds with his or her children, make healthy decisions regarding those to whom they expose the children, and appropriately interpret and respond to the child's needs. Often this intensifies the trauma experience for younger children, given what we know about the importance of secure attachment.

Young children depend exclusively on parents and other caregivers for survival and protection. When trauma also impacts the parent or caregiver, the relationship between that person and the child may be strongly affected. Without the support of a trusted parent or other caregiver to help them regulate their strong emotions, children may experience overwhelming stress, with little ability to effectively communicate what they feel or need. They often develop symptoms that parents and caregivers don't understand and may display uncharacteristic behaviors to which adults may not know how to appropriately respond. Additionally, some child behaviors (hitting, kicking, screaming and name-calling) may also be trauma triggers for adult caregivers who have experienced their own personal trauma. When this occurs, it is important to connect the family to appropriate trauma-informed interventions that help from a multi-generational approach. Adult caregivers who have experienced their own trauma can learn to manage their own trauma symptoms so that they can provide emotional availability and stability for young children.

April 1, 2016 (New) 43 | Page

Multigenerational Trauma: A Case Example

Mother was asked about her childhood. Mother stated that her own mother committed suicide in July 1991 when mother was 12 years old. Mother explained that after her mother committed suicide, all her siblings were separated and DCF would not allow her to see her siblings. Mother stated that she had 58 total placements. She explained that she had anger issues growing up and was on Lithium and Prozac. She stated that she had a very traumatic childhood. Mother is currently in a seven-year relationship that is described as violent and abusive. However, mother has just realized that she is struggling with ending the relationship, as this is the only attachment that she has made to another adult since her childhood.

Mother and DCF have learned from this example that her childhood trauma has impacted her ability to form healthy adult attachments. The practice of permanency teaming for children enables children to develop secure attachments, which may reduce the impact of trauma in the child's relationships in the future.

Many of these parents, who are often very young, perceive their experiences with the child welfare system negatively. They are likely to have very few positive role models or others to depend on and their prior connections and supports may no longer be available to them. Given the negative experience as a child in care, they may be highly distrustful of the system in their role as parents.

The role of the Social Worker is to rebuild and repair this relationship between DCF and the parent. This is done through consistency (showing up for visits and meetings on time, following through on whatever agreements are made), as well as being fully transparent (communicating DCF's concerns, the options that might be available, and potential consequences). Building on strengths that promote protective factors is also important. Viewing parents through a "trauma lens" can help staff approach parents in a non-threatening way and instill hope and healing for the parents.

Helping parents to identify their team of support and to be actively engaged and involved in planning through the permanency teaming process is instrumental in developing this partnership.²⁰

To complete a thorough assessment, it is important to review the case record. If the family had prior CPS history in another state, request that information.

Assessment Questions to Explore:

Note: If the parent is not ready to talk about childhood trauma, please stop and refer the parent to trauma-focused individual therapy and consult with an RRG member.

Information about Past History:

- Tell me about your childhood? Who raised you? Do you have a favorite childhood memory such as a tradition or holiday?
- Do you know if your parents used drugs or alcohol when you were born? Do you know if your mom used drugs or alcohol when she was pregnant with you?
- Do you know what happened that caused you to come into DCF care? Would you mind sharing this with me?
- Do you know how long you were in DCF care? Do you remember anything about the families you lived with good and bad or how you felt when you were there?
- Are you in contact with any of the families (or staff if the parent lived in group settings) you lived with? Would you consider them as a support to you?
- Do you remember what your relationship was like with your parents before you came into care?
- Can you tell me about your relatives? Have they helped and supported you? Did you ever live with them or keep in contact with them while in care? What about now: are you in contact with your family?
- How were you disciplined growing up? Do you discipline your child the way you were disciplined? Tell me about the way you discipline your child.

April 1, 2016 (New) 44 | Page

Source: National Child Traumatic Stress Network

NCTSN.org: http://nctsn.org/sites/default/files/assets/pdfs/birth-parents-trauma-history-fact-sheet-final.pdf.

- How have your experiences influenced the way you parent your child? Can you provide examples?
- When you were growing up, do you remember if you or your family received any community services? Were they helpful? Did you receive any extra help at school?
- Is or was there someone in your life whom you try to parent like? What was it that they did that you want to try to do with your child? Is there anyone you don't want to parent like? What was it that they did that you don't want to do with your child?
- Who are your role models?

Current Situation

- How does it feel to have DCF back in your life? Does it bring up any old feelings that you'd like to share?
- Who do you feel closest to? Who do you lean on for support? Who would you call in times of need or when good things happen?
- If you could wish for three things for your child, what would they be?
- Who do you like to spend time with and what do you do when you are together?

EARLY CHILDHOOD – ADOLESCENT SERVICES

The Adolescent Social Worker plays a significant role in the life of a young parent as he or she prepares to become a parent him- or herself. Whether it is a young male or female who is the parenting teen, his or her history of trauma, abuse and neglect will have an impact on this process. It is important that staff working with these young parents properly assess their needs, help them make healthy connections to support systems for themselves and their children, and give them the tools they will need to break the cycle of early childhood trauma. This is a challenging time in the life of an adolescent, and staff need to be aware of the risk factors associated with teen pregnancy and parenthood, as well as their role in assisting the adolescent in developing the skills necessary to be a parent.

Supervision – The role of the Social Work Supervisor is an important one in providing oversight and guidance in adolescent cases of pregnant and parenting teens. Supervision with this population should focus on the following areas depending on the needs of the parenting adolescent:

- a. How will pregnancy impact the parenting adolescent's placement or living situation?
- b. What are the adolescent's needs? What is the adolescent's plan regarding the pregnancy? What services is he or she receiving or does he or she need?
- c. Who is available to support the adolescent during pregnancy and following birth? Will these individuals continue to support the adolescent parent?
- d. How do we prepare the adolescent parent?
- e. What is the nature of the relationship between the parents of the child? How actively will each be involved in caring for the child and co-parenting?
- f. What safety checks are needed (including other birth parent, extended families, etc.)?
- g. Is substance use, mental health or trauma history a concern for the adolescent or the other parent?
- h. Are there financial factors to consider? What is DCF's contribution and in what time frames?
- i. Who is or will be providing care to the adolescent's child? Is there a plan for early care and education for the child? Has a referral or contact been made?
- j. How will the current placement provide support to the adolescent parent and the child? What will be the role of the foster parent in supporting the adolescent parent and caring for the child? What are the expectations for the parenting adolescent as he or she transitions to parenthood?
- k. What are the risk factors? Has a safety assessment been completed? What are the family's Protective Factors?
- I. What does our visitation plan look like through pregnancy and the first six months of the baby's life?
- m. What does the parenting adolescent think he or she needs?
- n. What tools does the Adolescent Social Worker need in order to make these important assessments? How does the Social Worker assess parenting abilities and risk?

April 1, 2016 (New) 45 | Page

- o. Who will help model for the adolescent what being a parent will look like?
- p. Does the Adolescent Social Worker know his or her role in relation to the adolescent and the care of the infant?
- q. How can the adolescent's life goals be supported while pregnant and parenting?

Adolescent Social Worker Role – The relationship between the Social Worker and the adolescent is vital to engaging and assessing the adolescent's readiness to parent. Some of the factors to consider are:

- a. Connect with the Social Work Supervisor and consult the RRG Nurse when the adolescent becomes pregnant to ensure he or she has appropriate pre- and post-natal care.
- b. Confirm pre-natal appointments. Attend with the adolescent whenever possible.
- c. Assess what the adolescent understands about pregnancy. What services does the adolescent need during and after pregnancy? Ensure referrals are made.
- d. Assist the adolescent in applying for WIC, child support, and other state assistance as necessary.
- e. Consult with the RRG Clinical Social Worker if there are mental health or executive functioning concerns that require assessment and monitoring.
- f. Include the other birth parent. What is the father's involvement in the pregnancy? How will each parent be involved in the future? Are their families involved and supportive? What will each parent contribute financially? How will they co-parent?
- g. What does discharge planning look like? (The adolescent and his or her child will not always receive services from DCF.)
- h. What is DCF's expectations for this pregnant or parenting adolescent? What is the adolescent's expectations of DCF and the support system? What do they expect of themselves?
- i. Have Safe Sleep and Safe Haven discussions.
- j. What are the long-term goals of the pregnant or parenting adolescent? What is his or her continuing education plan?

VISITATION

Parenting Time: The primary path of child development, emotional stability and healthy attachment is through the parent/child relationship. Even in relationships in which the parent's behavior or actions put the child at risk, there is a dance of attachment that is undergone, through which the child learns to understand the world. That relationship is built on

Frequency of visits for a young child is much more important than the length of time spent in the visit. consistent and ongoing connection and ready access between the child and the parent.

When children are separated from their known caregivers, even for safety reasons, they can experience a traumatic reaction to the loss of that caregiver and the routines and patterns that they have come to know. This can lead to challenging behaviors, emotional distress, and difficulty for the child in attaching to new caregivers. Given the impact of this loss, parent/child visitation is crucial to the emotional health and development of children who enter foster care, particularly for younger children who require more frequent contact in order to maintain relationships.

The permanency goal for children who enter care is most often reunification with a parent. Through ongoing contact, the parent is able to be present in the child's life, reducing the experience of disruption that children can experience when they leave their foster home to return to their families. In addition, parents are able to demonstrate increased parenting skills and the child is able to adjust to these new skills as a natural part of the parent/child relationship.

By broadening the concept of visitation beyond the valuable time spent in traditional visitation to include general care provision, doctor visits, pre-school and school events and extracurricular activities, the relationship between the parent and the child can be more normative in its nature. In addition, the parent can feel more connected to the parenting role and more engaged in the child's life.

April 1, 2016 (New) 46 | Page

It's hard to remember at times that "visiting" your child is not a normal aspect of parenting. In addition, parents are often struggling with issues of guilt and shame regarding the events that prompted their child coming into care and can feel displaced in their role as parents. Through engagement techniques aimed at supporting the parenting role, emphasizing the needs of the child, and including the substitute caregiver, parents can be encouraged to take an active role in their child's life, even while the child is not in their direct care.

Role of the Social Worker

Assessing child safety, identifying risk factors, identifying the needs of children and families, and connecting them to resources and services in the community is a critical function and important role of the Social Worker. The following provides guidance around possible topics for discussion during visits and supervision relative to this population:

Respond to signs of trauma

Observe the child's behavior. Even though very young children may not be able to explicitly tell you when they are frightened or sad, they often exhibit many behavioral cues that can help you to gauge their sense of well-being. Pay careful attention to these signs and non-verbal cues.

- o Educate the caregiver about the infant/toddler/preschooler's experience.
 - It is important that the caregiver knows what the child has experienced and should be made aware of signs or behaviors to look out for as they care for the child. If the child has been placed with a substitute caregiver, including early care and education providers, every effort should be made to avoid disruption of this relationship and this information should be shared in a way that helps them be prepared to respond appropriately to the child, while not making them biased toward the child's birth family. Caregivers should also be fully aware of and engaged with the clinical services to which the child is referred. During every visit, caregivers can be helped to more fully understand the child's behaviors, as well as their own role in the child's healing and healthy development. It is also important to discuss with caregivers their own self-care, so as to ensure that they are emotionally ready to cope with challenges the child may present. Taking care of a child who has been traumatized can be challenging. Caregivers may need additional support to understand that many challenging behaviors are likely a reflection of the trauma the child has experienced, not a rejection of the caregiver. You may also consider offering them a referral to an Early Childhood Consultation Project (ECCP) consultant, as appropriate.
- Observe how the infant/toddler/preschooler is interacting with his or her caregiver.
 - Do the caregiver and child respond appropriately to one another's behavior, such as laughing, cooing and playing in response to the other's smile and joy? Does the caregiver praise the child for accomplishments? Does the caregiver provide comfort when the child seems anxious or distressed? These interactions are key to the child's healing. Explore how the child and caregiver spend time together.

What do they do for fun? What do they do during quiet times? If there are others adults or children in the home, observe how the child interacts with them and how the caregiver supports or directs those interactions.

Developmentally appropriate parentchild contact:

- Is individualized for each family, according to their needs
- ➤ Aims for daily contact;
- Occurs in locations and times that work for birth parents, foster parents, and the infants and toddlers;
- Addresses parenting practice and relationship building;
- Focuses on parent involvement in normal family activities, such as doctor's appointments and birthday celebrations; and
- Limits those involved in supervising visits to one or two people who develop ongoing relationships with the child and caregivers.

From: A Call to Action on Behalf of Maltreated Infants and Toddlers. American Humane Association; Center for the Study of Social Policy; Children's Defense Fund; and ZERO TO THREE, 2011. P. 14

April 1, 2016 (New) 47 | Page

- o If the child begins to exhibit behaviors related to trauma, link the child and caregiver to therapeutic assessments.
 - A child who has been removed from his or her birth family and placed with substitute caregivers may not immediately demonstrate any behaviors of concern. There may be a "honeymoon" period for both the child and the caregivers. The frequency of Social Worker/child visits should be discussed in supervision. Meaningful visits and regular communication should provide you with sufficient observations to identify "out of the ordinary" behaviors and to discuss them with the caregivers. Such behaviors should be monitored and may require further therapeutic assessment and response. Be prepared to connect the child and caregivers to the appropriate resources. Review the MDE conducted when the child entered care. A series of screenings can further inform linkages to key supports.
- Support the child's development
 - Prepare for the visit by reviewing the appropriate developmental guidance contained in this guide and Appendices and reflect on what you have observed in previous visits. This will help you make notes about what to look for, how to interact with the child and questions to ask the caregiver about the child's daily routine. It will also prepare you to check up on anticipated and achieved developmental milestones. Use the information obtained about the child from service providers clinicians and early care and education providers to further prioritize what needs to be accomplished during a visit. It is also important to talk with providers and SWCA staff that supervise parent/child visits.
- Support and strengthen parental and caregiver Protective Factors
 - Get to know the caregivers. Develop an understanding of what is going on in the caregivers' lives, any potential sources of stress and how they are managing to cope with challenges. Respond with empathy to the life stresses they may be experiencing job frustrations, financial issues, family dynamics, etc. Explore what they are doing to take care of themselves. Acknowledge that your visit itself may be a stressor and alleviate this stress by fully explaining the purpose and goals of your visit. For instance, talk with them about the developmental checklist and how you are using it to guide your interactions with the child. Discuss with them the changes you see from visit to visit so that you can include them in your assessment and understand their perspective. Always respect them as the experts about this child. Additionally, connect with FASU support staff as they may have information about the child's caregivers that may be beneficial in working with the family.

THE ROLE OF SUPERVISION IN EARLY CHILDHOOD (AGES ZERO TO FIVE)

Supervision and management are one of the seven core strategies of the Strengthening Families Practice Model. Improvements in leadership, management, supervision and accountability, and the establishment of the DCF culture as a learning organization are two of our cross-cutting themes. Performance Expectation #5 is to prepare and support the workforce to meet the needs of children and families, which is measured in part by consistent and effective supervision.

There are four functions of supervision (as outlined in DCF Policy 7-22, "Supervision," and the Supervision Practice Guide):

- 1. Ensuring the quality of services provided
- 2. Ensuring that administrative tasks are completed accurately and in a timely way
- 3. Providing support to employees in their jobs as they face work-related challenges
- 4. Helping employees to grow and develop their skills

The "Supervision Session Agenda" (DCF-4101) is to be used to help organize the discussion in supervision. All case-related discussions must be documented in LINK in real time.

Supervision starts at the Careline and remains integral throughout the life of a case. For families with children aged zero to five, supervision becomes even more important given the vulnerability of children in this age group. Critical thinking is necessary in order for workers to assess the individual needs of the children and their caregivers. The signs of abuse or neglect are not as readily identifiable in this population and understanding child development and parental capacity is critical. Through supervision, this can be achieved.

April 1, 2016 (New) 48 | Page

The supervision practice for Investigations and Family Assessment Response is that supervision take place a minimum of three times: upon assignment, in the middle of the assessment, and at the end to determine the results of the assessment and case disposition. (See DCF Policy 34-3-3, Receipt of the Report and Assignment to the Investigator; Policy 34-3-4, "Preparation for the Investigation;" and Policy 34-3-6, "Determination and Conclusion.")

Time frames for supervision are important, as is the content of what is discussed. The following is guidance of what should be discussed in supervision for families with children aged zero to five. The goal is to assess the Social Worker's ability and knowledge to work with this population, strengthen their critical thinking and assessments skills, provide coaching and support as needed in order to adequately identify the strengths and needs of the children and their caregivers, determine the case outcome and begin to lay the groundwork for the development of a case plan that includes the child's caregivers and non-custodial parent(s) and considers the permanency needs of the child.

Recommended Issues for discussion in supervision:

- 1. Identify families on the Social Worker's caseload with children aged zero to five in the household, not limited to children identified as victims of abuse or neglect.
- 2. The Social Worker's knowledge of and comfort in working with children aged zero to five.
- 3. Recognizing the social work with young children is a parallel process. The relationships between the Supervisor and the Social Worker, the Social Worker and the family, and the parents and their children are important and often affect each other. Focusing on the Social Worker's experiences, thoughts and feelings in relation to his or her work with young children and their families through a reflective supervision approach will help staff work through complex feelings and identify what may trigger problematic feelings or responses in order to better attend to the needs of families. Supervisors can help the Social Worker think about how the Social Worker's own emotional experiences may shape or influence their work and decision-making
- 4. Case history, including all household members, non-custodial parents, the parents' partners and other caregivers who have regular access to the child.
- 5. Risk factors. The DCF ORE Child Fatality Study identified that the following risk factors were found to be highly prevalent in Connecticut child fatality cases:
 - a. child's age and special needs (medical issues)
 - b. high risk newborn
 - c. mental health concerns of parent
 - d. substance use by parent
 - e. prior DCF history of the family
 - f. young parent
- 6. Documentation of observation:
 - a. assessment of physical environment (based on the child's age)
 - b. how do things look different from one visit to the next?
- 7. A visitation schedule that meets the needs of the family, taking into consideration the history and risk factors present:
 - a. visits should be announced and unannounced and the frequency determined by the needs of the family and risk factors
 - b. if the children are removed, the family visitation schedule should be developed with the parents
- 8. Discuss Family Strengths and Needs:
 - a. how do these impact the safety and well-beingof the children in the home?
 - b. Protective Factors/Structured Decision Making Family Strength and Needs Assessment (SDM FSNA)
- 9. Review family's understanding of childhood development and their parenting capacity:
 - a. how does the family cope?
 - b. how do the family's coping strategies impact their parenting?
 - c. what experiences do parents bring from their upbringing to their own parenting styles?
- 10. The non-custodial parent and the role he or she plays in parenting the child.
- 11. Provider input and assessment and how that information is included in the overall assessment of the family.

April 1, 2016 (New) 49 | Page

- 12. Use of Structured Decision Making (SDM):
 - a. are the tools being completed accurately?
 - b. are overrides needed and discussed in supervision?
 - c. Social Workers must consult with the Supervisor regarding the use of discretionary overrides for children aged zero to three and with a known risk factor that is not included in the SDM Risk Assessment (e.g., parental age or trauma history).

13. Level of risk:

- a. how and why risk was determined and whether the supporting information was documented
- b. were overrides used?
- c. what patterns and trends were noted
- d. how parental history is impacting current functioning
- 14. How are the needs of the family tied to services being offered?
 - a. are the objectives identified consistent with the goals of the service?
 - b. how will progress be measured?
 - c. what does success for the family look like?
- 15. Case outcome and summary of information used to determine:
 - a. substantiation of abuse or neglect²¹
 - b. placement on Central Registry
 - c. case disposition

Consults

Regional Resource Group

The Regional Resource Group (RRG) should be consulted to assess the needs of children and families and in deciding how and what types of services are required. The RRG staff should also be consulted to help with understanding the medical and mental health needs of adults and children and to make referrals for exams or evaluations. (See DCF Policy 38-1, "Regional Resource Groups.") The decision to make a referral to the RRG for consultation should be discussed in supervision.

Examples of when to make a referral to the RRG:

- high risk newborn
- critical incident
- CPS report identifies medical concerns for the child
- a child is hospitalized or seen at an emergency department
- a child with complex medical needs (CCMN) comes into care or has a change in his or her circumstances, including but not limited to routine follow up or ongoing care or a routine or non-emergent home visit
- any observation of developmental delays
- hospitalization for medical or psychiatric reasons (for parent or caregiver) that results in the child needing placement
- current allegations of intimate partner violence with possible child exposure (including serious physical violence, suspicion of firearms, and child in close proximity to or intervening in IPV)
- assistance needed in coaching and assessing a parent's current relationship
- identification of substance abuse history of caregiver of children age five and under
- · reports from mandated reporters alleging harm or potential harm to a child due to adult substance use
- any substance use that poses an imminent risk to the child or parent or that may cause overdose or a need for detox
- suicidal or homicidal risk assessment of parent or caregiver

April 1, 2016 (New) 50 | Page

For children aged zero to three who are confirmed to be abused or neglected, has a referral to Birth to Three made **See**Memorandum of Understanding Between DCF, DDS and Office of Early Childhood (MOA 341) at
http://www.ct.gov/dcf/lib/dcf/mou/moa_341_ct_birth_to_three_system_-_dds.pdf and Special Act 14-22, An Act Concerning
Access to Preschool Programs for Children in the Care and Custody of the Department of Children and Families.

Recommendations made following an RRG consult should be reviewed and discussed in supervision and are to be made part of the family's case plan.

RRG consults must be documented in LINK by **both** the RRG staff person **and** the Social Worker.

Legal Consultation

The need for legal consultation should be discussed in supervision for both intake and ongoing services cases. The discussion shall include legal involvement at different stages of case, not just during crisis or at the end prior to closing. In ongoing services, a legal consult is to take place, at a minimum, when a case has been open for more than six months with no legal intervention. A legal consult should also take place in cases in which there is already court involvement and there is a new birth. Legal consults must be documented in LINK by *both* the Area Office Attorney **and** the Social Worker.

FOSTER CARE: FOCUSING ON CHILDREN ENTERING AND IN-CARE – BIRTH TO AGE 5

Recruitment and Training

Targeted recruitment is needed for resources willing and able to meet the needs of young children. Below are some of the characteristics that should be sought when recruiting foster families to care for young children:

- a stay-at-home parent for infants and, ideally, up through two years of age or prior to the start of pre-school
- a foster parent willing to work closely with birth families, other relatives and fictive kin for the purpose of increased parenting time as well as role modeling and coaching (ideally, daily for infants and every two to three days for toddlers
- a foster parent willing to work closely with all identified providers to ensure the child is medically up-to-date and developmentally on target
- a foster parent who is willing to preserve relationships the child may have with an early care and education provider and peers
- a foster parent who understands the signs and symptoms of trauma in children from birth to five years old and is committed to helping the child and birth family through the stages of healing
- a foster parent who is willing to complete the medically complex training, age-appropriate CPR and child-specific training modules to care for a child with complex medical needs
- a foster parent who speaks the child's native language
- a foster parent who understands and can respond to the needs and identity of the child including race, culture, religion, and disability.

In addition to the Trauma Informed Partnering for Safety and Permanence Model Approach to Partnerships in Parenting (TIPS-MAPP) pre-licensing curriculum, foster and pre-adoptive parents must also be willing to take additional trainings related to meeting the health and multicultural needs of the children (e.g., Fostering Health).

Licensing

When assessing a family for licensure for a child between the ages of zero and five years, the following discussions should take place in supervision:

- What prior parenting experience or training do they have, especially in the area of parenting a young child with a trauma history?
- What are the proposed sleeping arrangements within the home? What is the child sleeping in? Is the sleep environment safe?
 - ✓ children can sleep in the caregiver's bedroom until the child is one year old
 - ✓ children under five years old must sleep on the same level as the caregiver
 - ✓ children three years and older cannot share a bedroom with the opposite sex

April 1, 2016 (New) 51 | Page

- Considering of the age of the child that the family is seeking to foster or adopt, is the home childproofed or are they willing to childproof the home?
 - ✓ child access to pool and water sources
 - ✓ child access to peeling paint, toxic materials, medications, etc.
 - ✓ child access to stairs or balconies
 - ✓ children with complex medical needs do the medical care needs require adjustments to the home environment to ensure safety? This may include where the child sleeps and sleep position in accordance with child's treatment provider.
- What is the family's proposed child care plan?
- Is the family willing to work closely with the birth family and providers to meet the needs of the child including participating in in-home services and having frequent contact with the parent?

Matching

If a match is identified that is in the best interest of the child but there are regulatory concerns with the placement, an assessment must be completed and a plan developed to address the regulatory issue(s) and ensure the child's safety. This information must be documented utilizing the DCF-009, "Foster Care Licensing Placement Waivers Request Form," and must be submitted to the identified approving authority.

Please note the three examples below which involve placement decisions that impact children from birth to age five years. Each vignette results in a placement waiver being authorized with a plan for the FASU Support and Treatment Social Worker to follow-up within 90 days or less to ensure the regulatory concern is resolved and that the placement continues to be in the best interest of the child.

Best Interest Consideration	Regulatory Concern	Waiver Justification
Relatives have been identified as a potential placement resource for a newborn child.	The current household income is less than the identified monthly bills.	One parent is working and the second parent was recently laid off but is actively seeking employment.
A one year old male child enters DCF care and no kin have been identified but there is a five year old female sibling who is cur- rently in foster care.	The foster family caring for the five year old is willing to care for the one year old but the siblings would need to share a bedroom.	Although the children are of the opposite sex and of disparate age, the room is large enough for a privacy screen and no concerns have been identified regarding sexualized behaviors. The foster parents have stated that they will seek a larger apartment if they become a permanent resource for both children.
A foster home has been identified for a three year old which will allow him to be placed within close proximity to his preschool program, play therapist, church family and birth family.	There are currently three children in this home under the age of six years: a two month old foster child and five year old adopted twins.	The permanency plan for the two month old is reunification with a court date scheduled in 30 days. The five year old twins will be turning six years old in 90 days. The foster parents have experience working with young children exposed to trauma, have mentored birth parents in the past ∧ their adult daughter is home from college for the next two months and has agreed to assist with child care as needed.

Support

When supporting a licensed family who is caring for a child between the ages of zero and five years, the following discussion should take place in supervision and be part of the family's Quarterly Support Plan:

- How has this placement changed the dynamics in the home for all household members? Are all household members, including the child in placement, adjusting well? Are there any issues with household pets?
- What are the child's identified needs? Are they being adequately addressed in a timely manner?
- Are there any new developmental or behavioral concerns identified by the foster parent or during the MDE? What is being done to address these? Has the Ages and Stages Questionnaire been administered?

April 1, 2016 (New) 52 | Page

- Are there additional services, training or supports needed to meet the child or foster parent's needs?
- How is the relationship between the birth family and the foster family?
- Considering the child's current level of mobility and mobility in the near future, are there any changes regarding the physical home environment needed?
- Who in the home is identified as having caregiving responsibility? Are all caregivers aware of safe sleep practices? Are they CPR certified?
- Have there been any changes to the household membership that need additional assessment?

Communication between the FASU Social Worker and Intake or Ongoing Social Worker are key to ensuring a child's needs are being met. FASU Social Workers should engage foster parents to review the goals, objectives and action steps outlined in the child's case plan during quarterly visits. The FASU Social Worker should also attend the ACR with the foster parent.

DCF'S TEAMING CONTINUUM

Considered Removal Child and Family Team Meeting (CR-CFTM)

The purpose of a CR-CFTM is to mitigate safety factors in order to prevent removal from the home by identifying and utilizing the family's natural or formal supports in safety planning. The meeting results in a live decision about safety and removal and recommendations regarding placement. When removal is required to ensure child safety, staff must be mindful of the trauma connected with the child's separation from his or her primary caregiver(s). Placement with relatives or fictive kin who can provide a safe, stable and nurturing environment is the preferred option. Maintaining the child's relationship with an existing early care and education provider can provide some continuity for the child. It is important for the substitute caregiver to understand the child's experiences in the home including trauma, routines, rituals, medical issues or concerns and developmental delays in order to make a smooth transition. Additionally, the child's cultural, spiritual and linguistic background must be considered.

Child and Family Permanency Teaming

Child and Family Permanency Teaming is a case management process designed to focus practice on activities leading to permanency. Permanency teaming informs and enhances assessment, service planning, service delivery and case closing. It is also an excellent opportunity to help strengthen and build caregiver protective factors and track children's developmental progress. Permanency teaming can help workers to:

Respond to Signs of Trauma

Explore how the lack of permanency can be unsettling for the child. A child who has been removed from the home and is only allowed to see family members within certain structured settings – times, location and duration – may experience some attachment issues. Since early childhood is a particularly sensitive period for the development of the child's mental model of attachment, it is important to address attachment problems as soon as possible. Keep in mind that attachment issues may eventually affect successful reunification or other permanency options. Be sure to consider the possibility of such issues and discuss what needs to be in place to achieve successful permanency for a child. For example, if the plan is to reunify the child with his or her parents, identify what therapeutic services may need to be put into place both before and after reunification.

Support the Child's Development

- O Ask parents if early childhood partners can be invited to the teaming. Children placed in out-of-home care and who have been linked to early childhood care resources should be represented at permanency child and family team meetings by those who see them on a daily basis particularly teachers and caregivers from early childhood settings. These individuals bring valuable knowledge about what the child needs from a permanent family and can share this knowledge with family members in a useful way.
- o Identify how the child's connections to family and community can be preserved. Many permanency options can be constructed in ways that allow children to stay connected to both the family and to any substitute caregivers to whom

April 1, 2016 (New) 53 | Page

they may have become attached. These opportunities should be discussed in light of their importance to the child's healthy development. This may include the continuing integration of the child's culture, language and spiritual practices.

Support and Strengthen Parental and Caregiver Protective Factors

- Explore barriers to developing healthy social connections. Use the meeting as an opportunity to discuss how the parents can be assisted in developing healthy connections for themselves and their children. For example, unresolved family dynamics may be impeding the parents from having a healthy, supportive relationship with their own immediate and extended family. Discussing the importance of resolving those familial issues may lead to the identification of additional actions to help the child achieve permanency. Help parents determine who within their support network really can contribute positively to helping them and their child. Inclusion of the parents in this decision making can also help foster an environment that supports cultural, language and spirituality practices.
- Model good relational behavior. As the facilitator, help parents develop stronger relational skills by demonstrating
 effective interactions with others. Encourage the parents to interact with others by giving them the freedom to ask as
 many questions as they want and to respond to the information that is shared.
- Provide parents with information about their child. Use this opportunity to review the child's physical and emotional progress and discuss how the parent perceives the child's progress. Help the parent understand how to use information about the child's development to identify the child's needs.
- Make protective factors part of the conversation. This teaming provides an important platform to think about what will happen after the case closes, and the protective factors can serve as a strength-based framework for that process.
 Helping caregivers to think about their ongoing plan to support and build their own protective factors should be a major part of the conversation.

April 1, 2016 (New) 54 | Page

DCF Early Childhood Practice Guide Appendices

April 1, 2016 (New) 55 | Page

Appendices Section	Page
Introduction	56
The Impact of Trauma on Early Childhood Development	57
Child Development	61
Developmental Milestones	65
Attachment	70
Resources – Children's Social and Emotional Competence	74
Cultural Considerations	75
Assessing Home Environment	76
Assessing Parenting and Parent/Child Relationship	78
Assessing Parental Capacity	78
Assessment of the Parent's Perception of Child	79
Failure To Thrive	80
Abusive Head Trauma (Shaken Baby)	80
Foster Care	81
Fatherhood Initiative Programs at CJTS	82
Resources by Region	See "Resources"

April 1, 2016 (New) 56 | Page

Introduction

During home visits or placement visits, front-line staff are required to cover many areas with parents and caregivers of young children, including but not limited to assessing the physical and social *environments* in which the child resides, child development, and the parent-child relationship. The Appendices consist of tools and additional information that staff can use to inform their overall assessment of the safety and well-being of the child. When these tools are used to help guide our engagement with families, they enhance our critical thinking and provoke conversations with caregivers to gather important information to inform a more comprehensive and thorough assessment.

The tools provided in the appendices are not designed to replace or supplant the SDM tools, but rather to supplement SDM. The tools can be utilized throughout the life of the case with multiple caregivers, enhanced by case observations, and can be used at various stages of the child's development. Information obtained can be added to information received from service providers, including but not limited to, pediatricians, educators, behaviorists and clinicians.

No tool is to be used to singularly drive our case decisions. The proverbial tag lines of "there were no visible marks or bruises" and "child appeared bonded," have proven over time, as evidenced in the 2011 ORE report, that our assessments of the 0-5 population goes beyond our "checklist/check boxes" and requires a broad and exhaustive multi-disciplinary approach. We must move away from asking the same question on every case, when the risk factors and complexity of cases vary.

As a learning organization in a changing world, it is necessary for us to develop our workforce. This can only be achieved when we are able to learn from our past practices by way of research, in addition to our collaborations with specialists in related fields and systems, acknowledge where we could have done something different and consequently, DO something different.

April 1, 2016 (New) 57 | Page

The Impact of Trauma on Early Childhood Development

Almost 200,000 children under the age of 3 come into contact with the child welfare system every year and have the highest rate of child fatalities. For young children, this threat arises at a crucial time in life, when early experiences are shaping the brain's architecture into a foundation for learning, health, and future success. Maltreatment chemically alters

The human brain is an amazing and complex organ. It allows us to think, act, feel, laugh, speak, create and love.

The core "mission" of the brain is to sense, perceive, process, store and act on information from the external and internal environment to promote survival.

The brain is composed of many different parts or systems that control different functions.

While the most basic part of our brain is completely functional when we are born, the other parts continue to develop after birth.

The brain is organized so that the basic functions develop first and the most complex functions develop last. The brain develops in order: from least (brain stem) to most complex (limbic, cortex) areas.

Different parts of the brain control different functions.

The brain stem controls the basic functions such as breathing, heart rate, swallowing, digestion and temperature.

The limbic area is part of the central nervous system that controls more complex functions such as the brain's development and can lead to permanent damage of the brain's architecture. The developmental risks associated with maltreatment (such as cognitive delays, attachment disorders, difficulty showing empathy, poor self-esteem, and social challenges) are exacerbated by removal from the home and placement in multiple foster homes.

One of the most important influences on a young child's growth and development is his or her relationship with a caring and nurturing adult beginning at birth. This relationship is the basis for an infant's ability to form a secure attachment which sets the stage for the child's cognitive, social and emotional future.

The factors that play a key role in determining an infant's mental health in the context of these early relationships are as follows:

- the developing brain;
- the importance of attachment;
- the effects of trauma;
- · the influence of toxic stress; and
- the family's protective factors which can be buffers to adverse life situations.

Brain Development

In the past, some scientists thought the brain's development was determined genetically and brain growth followed a biologically predetermined path. Now we know that early experiences impact the development of the brain and influence the specific way in which the circuits (or pathways) of the brain become "wired." A baby's brain is a work in progress. The outside world shapes its development through experiences.

During early childhood, the brain is developing the framework for learning, planning, making connections, and abstract thinking; whether the foundation is strong or weak greatly depends on the nature and quality of their experiences and environment.

Traumatic experiences hold the potential for a strong and lasting impact on the normal development of a child's brain. When the architecture of that framework is impacted by trauma, there can be adverse effects to the cognitive capacity, emotional experiences and behavioral control of the child, ultimately impacting his or her interpersonal relationships and long-term well-being. This is important when you consider that 47% of children experiencing trauma do so by the age of 5.

Traumatic events have a profound sensory impact on young children. Their sense of safety may be shattered by frightening visual stimuli, loud noises, violent movements and other sensations associated with an unpredictable frightening event. The frightening images tend to recur in the form of nightmares, new fears and actions or play that reenact the event. Lacking an accurate understanding of the relationship between cause and effect, young children believe that their thoughts, wishes and fears have the power to become real and can make things happen.

April 1, 2016 (New) 58 | Page

Young children are less able to anticipate danger or to know how to keep themselves safe and so, are particularly vulnerable to the effects of exposure to trauma. A 2-year-old who witnesses a traumatic event may interpret the event quite differently from the way a 5-year-old or an 11-year-old would. Children may blame themselves or their parents for not preventing a frightening event or for not being able to change its outcome. These misconceptions of reality compound the negative impact of traumatic effects on children's development. Unlike older children, young children cannot verbally express whether they feel afraid, overwhelmed or helpless. However, their behaviors provide us with important clues about how they are affected.

A growing body of research has shown that adverse environments and experiences place young children at risk for limited language and cognitive skills, difficulties interacting effectively with their peers, insecure attachments, developmental delays, behavioral and mental health problems and an array of health problems and conditions (*e.g.*, lung disease, cancer, depression, alcoholism) later in life.

Unlike adults, infants and toddlers have a fairly limited repertoire of coping responses to stress and trauma and are more likely than older children and adults to have a dissociative adaptive response and may act stunned or numb. Mental health disorders in young infants might be reflected through physical symptoms such as poor weight gain, slow growth, constipation, delayed development and inconsolable crying. In older infants, excessive tantrums, eating and sleeping problems, aggressive or impulsive behavior and developmental delays can be present. Toddlers may also present with paralyzing fears and withdraw from social interaction.²²

The following chart demonstrates some ways in which maltreatment affects the brain:²³

Type of Maltreatment	Effects
Shaken Baby	Tears blood vessels
	Destroys brain tissue
	Sensory impairments
	Cognitive, learning and behavioral disabilities.
Traumatic Maltreatment (physical	Alters brain's ability to use serotonin to feel well and stable
abuse, exposure to violence)	Persistent fear, which interferes with brain development
	Hyperarousal
	Dissociation
Neglect	Malnutrition stunts brain growth
	Lack of stimulation leads to underdevelopment of neural pathways
	Babies not talked to have difficulties with language development
	Severe neglect leads to smaller brain size
	Impaired attachments leading to excessive dependency, social isolation and
	difficulty regulating emotion

April 1, 2016 (New) 59 | Page

²² https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/braindevtrauma.pdf

²³ Children and Family Research Center, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign SSW,

Child Maltreatment Victims Age Zero to Five: Developmental Challenges & Program Opportunities,

Ted Cross, Jesse Helton, Sandra Lyons and Judy Havlicek (2012),

 $[\]frac{http://cfrc.illinois.edu/pubs/pt~20120701~ChildMaltreatmentVictimsAgeZeroToFiveDevelopmentalChallengesAndProgramOppor~tunities.pdf.$

Signs and Symptoms of Trauma—Ages 0 to 2

A child may have experienced trauma if he or she exhibits any of the following signs and symptoms:

- Acts withdrawn or dissociates
- Demands attention through both positive and negative behaviors
- Demonstrates poor verbal skills
- Displays excessive temper tantrums
- Exhibits aggressive behaviors
- · Exhibits memory problems
- Exhibits regressive behaviors
- Experiences nightmares or sleep difficulties
- Fears adults who remind them of the traumatic event
- Has a poor appetite, low weight and/or digestive problems
- Has poor sleep habits
- Screams or cries excessively
- Shows irritability, sadness, anxiety and fear in facial expressions, tone or body language
- Startles easily

Signs and Symptoms of Trauma—Ages 2 to 6

A child may have experienced trauma if he or she exhibits any of the following signs and symptoms:

- Acts out in social situations
- Acts withdrawn or dissociates
- Demands attention through both positive and negative behaviors
- Displays excessive temper
- Is anxious and fearful and avoidant
- Is unable to trust others or make friends
- Is verbally abusive
- Believes he or she is to blame for the traumatic experience
- Develops learning disabilities
- Exhibits aggressive behaviors
- Experiences nightmares or sleep difficulties
- Experiences stomach aches and headaches
- Fears adults who remind him or her of the traumatic event
- Fears being separated from parent or other caregiver
- Has difficulty focusing or learning in school
- Has poor sleep habits
- · Imitates the abusive or traumatic event
- Lacks self-confidence
- · Shows irritability, sadness and anxiety
- Shows poor skill development
- Startles easily
- Wets the bed or self after being toilet trained or exhibits other regressive behaviors²⁴

April 1, 2016 (New) 60 | Page

²⁴ Source: National Child Traumatic Stress Network: http://www.nctsn.org/trauma-types/early-childhood-trauma/Symptoms-and-Behaviors-Associated-with-Exposure-to-Trauma.

Other National Resources

In addition, the following links are helpful resources for caregivers who want to support children who have experienced trauma:

- A general guide to trauma for all parents: http://actagainstviolence.apa.org/materials/publications/act/trauma.pdf
- Guide written for adoptive parents on providing care to a child who has experienced trauma: http://www.fosteringperspectives.org/fp_v10n1/Kennedy&Bennett.pdf
- The National Child Traumatic Stress Network. Includes a wealth of resources including a trauma training for child welfare workers.
- Best Practice Tutorial Series on the Center for Early Childhood Mental Health Consultations' website.
- Excerpts from *Your Child* on Childhood Trauma and Its Effects from the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry.
- Identifying Seriously Traumatized Children: Tips for Parents and Educators from the National Association of School Psychologists (pdf available here).
- American Psychological Association: Resilience Guide for Parents and Teachers.
- The NYU Child Study Center's Children's Resilience in the Face of Trauma.
- US Department of Health and Human Services Administration for Children and Families, Child Welfare Information Gateway: Resiliency in Children and Youth.
- Effects of Traumatic Events on Children, The Child Trauma Academy, www.ChildTrauma.org
- The Neurodevelopmental Impact of Violence in Childhood https://childtrauma.org/wp-content/11/Neurodevel Impact Perry.pdf.

Parents with Trauma History

Many of the parents with whom we work have their own histories of childhood trauma. Those experiences, and their impact on risk-related behaviors, can result in a parent's inability to form consistently nurturing bonds with his or her children, make healthy decisions regarding those to whom they expose the children, and appropriately interpret and respond to the child's needs. This can compound the experience of trauma for younger children, as the presence of a primary attachment figure is a crucial element in a child's resilience in the face of traumatic experiences.

Young children depend exclusively on parents and caregivers for survival and protection. When trauma also impacts the parent or caregiver, the relationship between that person and the child may be strongly affected. Without the support of a trusted parent or caregiver to help them regulate their strong emotions, children may experience overwhelming stress, with little ability to effectively communicate what they feel or need. They often develop symptoms that parents or caregivers don't understand and may display uncharacteristic behaviors to which adults may not know how to appropriately respond.

Early childhood is considered by many scientists to be the most critical and the most vulnerable developmental period in the lifespan.

But the early years of life also offer the greatest opportunity for preventing or mitigating harm and setting the course for healthy development.

Early and appropriate interventions can help minimize lasting damage caused by abuse, neglect and placement in foster care. By understanding the developmental risks, identifying delays early, and linking infants, toddlers and their families and caregivers to appropriate interventions, outcomes for maltreated infants and toddlers can be improved.

April 1, 2016 (New) 61 | Page

Child Development

Examples of Typical Child Development by Age²⁵

AGE	BEHAVIORS
1-3 months	 Able to suck and swallow Startled by loud noise Pays attention to faces nearby Makes soft, throaty, gurgling sounds
3-4 months	 Holds a rattle and shakes it Holds head up well Shows gains in height and weight Smiles at familiar people
4-6 months	 Reaches for and grasps objects Moves toys from hand to hand Rolls from tummy to back and back to tummy
6-9 months	 Babbles and laughs out load Sits up without help Plays peek-a-boo and pat-a-cake Creeps or crawls forward on tummy by moving arms and legs
9-12 months	 Pulls to a stand Picks up small objects Waves "bye-bye" Points at something to draw your attention
12-15 months	 Comes when called by name Drinks from a cup Takes turns rolling a ball with you Shakes head to mean "no"
15-18 months	 Looks at picture books Likes to push, pull and dump things Tries to talk and repeat words Walks without help Nods head to mean "yes"
18-24 months	 Carries objects while walking Uses 5-10 words Gives hugs and kisses Follows simple directions
24-30 months	 Runs well, with few falls Holds a crayon, likes to scribble Can eat without help Asks simple questions
30+ months	 Helps with getting dressed Walks up and down stairs Sings simple songs Understands right from wrong

April 1, 2016 (New) 62 | Page

²⁵ Flyer developed by CT Birth to Three System.

Child Development

Early childhood is a time of remarkable physical, cognitive, social and emotional development. Growth and development includes not only the physical changes that will occur from infancy to adolescence, but also some of the changes in emotions, personality, behavior, thinking and speech that children develop as they begin to understand and interact with the world around them.

Types of Developmental Milestones:

1) **Physical Milestones**: involves both large-motor skills and fine-motor skills. The large-motor skills are usually the first to develop and include sitting up, standing, crawling and walking. Fine-motor skills involve precise movements such as grasping a spoon, holding a crayon, drawing shapes and picking up small objects.

From the moment of birth, babies are inundated with sensory experiences that they are eager to explore. Babies watch their parents with their eyes, attempt to move toward the touch of caregivers, and move their mouths to touch and taste just about anything they can get in their mouths. As children grow, their abilities to control balance, movement and fine-motor skills become increasingly advanced.

Developmental milestones are abilities that most children are able to perform by a certain age. During the first year of a child's life, physical milestones are centered on the infant learning to master self-movement, hold objects and hand-to-mouth coordination.

- 2) Cognitive milestones are centered on a child's ability to think, learn and solve problems. An infant learning how to respond to facial expressions and a preschooler learning the alphabet are both examples of cognitive milestones.
- 3) **Social and emotional milestones** are centered on children gaining a better understanding of their own emotions and the emotions of others. These milestones also involve learning how to interact and play with other people.
- 4) **Communication milestones** involve both language and nonverbal communication. A one-year old learning how to say his first words and a five year old learning some of the basic rules of grammar are examples of important communication milestones.

While most of these milestones typically take place during a certain window of time, parents and caregivers must remember that each child is unique.

These developmental abilities also tend to build on one another. More advanced skills such as walking usually occur after simpler abilities such as crawling and sitting up have already been achieved.²⁶

April 1, 2016 (New) 63 | Page

²⁶ http://psychology.about.com/od/early-child-development/f/developmental-milestone.htm

FIVE STAGES OF DEVELOPMENT:27

Gross Motor Development

Gross motor skills include balance, muscle tone, strength and coordination of upper and lower extremity movements for activities such as sitting, crawling and walking.

Fine Motor Development

Fine motor activities include the child's ability to reach, grasp and release objects in a purposeful manner. They includes using the arms and hands in an integrated way to plan movements and manipulate items. Adequate fine motor skill development is imperative for children as they will use these skills throughout life. Fine motor skills are necessary for simple daily living skills like eating, dressing and performing household chores.

Cognitive Development

The development of cognitive skills is related to the experiences a child has with

the world around him. Initially, these experiences include movement of the body in space and movement to explore objects. These experiences also include sensation and sensory feedback that the child gains from the world around him; interactions with other people, toys and objects; and the availability of environments that stimulate interest and exploration during the birth to 5-month period of development.

Physical changes in early childhood are accompanied by rapid changes in the child's cognitive and language development. From the moment they are born, children use all their senses to attend to their environment, and they begin to develop a sense of cause and effect from their actions and the responses of their caregivers.

Language Development

Communication includes expressive, receptive, and social use of language. Articulation and speech production are also part of the development of effective communication skills. Communication includes the use of pictures, behavior, gestures, signs and body language. Expressive language is verbal expression. Receptive language is the ability to understand language.

Over the first three years of life, children develop a spoken vocabulary of between 300 and 1,000 words, and they are able to use language to learn about and describe the world around them. By age five, a child's vocabulary will grow to approximately 1,500 words. Five-year-olds are also able to produce five- to seven-word sentences, learn to use the past tense and tell familiar stories using pictures as cues. Language is a powerful tool to enhance cognitive development. Using language allows the child to communicate with others and solve problems.

Social/Emotional Development

This area describes the child's social responsiveness, appropriate attachments to familiar adults and the level of independence when interacting with others. Awareness of rules such as imitation or interactions and turn taking are also considered part of social skill development.

A key moment in early childhood socioemotional development occurs around one year of age. This is the time when attachment formation becomes critical. Attachment theory suggests that individual differences in later life functioning and personality are shaped by a child's early experiences with their caregivers. The quality of emotional attachment, or lack of attachment, formed early in life may serve as a model for later relationships.

The Connecticut Part C Memorandum of Understanding

In recognizing the importance of providing Part C services to young children who have experienced abuse and neglect, the Connecticut Department of Children and Families and the Connecticut Department of Developmental Services have developed a Memorandum of Understanding, which outlines the priorities, roles, responsibilities and processes needed to ensure that young children served by DCF are assessed for and receive Part C services as needed.

April 1, 2016 (New) 64 | Page

http://www.med.umich.edu/yourchild/topics/devmile.htm

From ages three to five, growth in socioemotional skills includes the formation of peer relationships, gender identification and the development of a sense of right and wrong. Taking the perspective of another individual is difficult for young children, and events are often interpreted in all-or-nothing terms, with the impact on the child being the primary concern. For example, at age five a child may expect others to share their possessions freely but still be extremely possessive of a favorite toy.

Connecting Families to Part C Services

Studies show that half of all children ages birth to three who have experienced abuse or neglect have significant delays in communication or cognitive development, and a quarter have delays in motor development. Part C services are designed to support children who have developmental delays or conditions that might cause a developmental delay. Nationally, there is a special interest in ensuring that children connected to child welfare systems are also connected to Part C services.

Based on the Part C Memorandum of Understanding, Social Workers should make a referral for assessment for Part C eligibility for any child on their caseloads who is age three or below and, (a) has a substantiated case of abuse or neglect and are suspected of having a developmental delay, or (b) is affected by illegal substance abuse or withdrawal symptoms resulting from prenatal drug exposure.

Service plans vary to meet the unique needs of every child. Below is a list of services that may be available to a child who is eligible for Part C:

- Audiology services
- Assistive technology
- Counseling/psychological assessments
- Family training, counseling and home visits
- Medical evaluations (for diagnostic purposes only)
- Nursing care
- Nutritional assistance
- Occupational therapy
- Physical therapy
- Service coordination
- Social work services
- Speech/language therapy
- Transportation services

April 1, 2016 (New) 65 | Page

²⁸ Blatt, S.D., Saletsky, R.D., Meguid, V., Church, C.C., O'Hara, M.T., Haller-Peck, S.M., & Anderson, J.M. (1997). A comprehensive, multidisciplinary approach to providing health care for children in out-of-home-care. *Child Welfare*, 76(2).

Developmental Milestones for Infants (0-18 months)

PHY	SICAL:			
0-3 months				
 Demonstrates sucking, grasping reflexes 	Moves arms actively			
Lifts head when held at shoulder	Is able to follow objects and to focus			
3-6 months				
Rolls over	Reaches for objects			
Holds head up when held in sitting position	Lifts up knees, crawling motions			
6-9	months			
Sits unaided, spends more time in upright position	Climbs stairs			
Learns to crawl	Develops eye-hand coordination			
9-18	months			
Achieves mobility, has strong urge to climb, crawl	Learns to grasp with thumb and finger			
Stands and walks	Feeds self			
Learns to walk on his or her own	Transfers small objects from one hand to another			
SOCIAL-EMOTIONAL:				
Wants to have needs met	Prefers primary caregiver			
Develops a sense of security	May cry when strangers approach			
Smiles spontaneously and responsively	Consistently anxious			
Likes movement, to be held and rocked	Extends attachments for primary caregivers to the world			
Laughs aloud	Demonstrates object permanence; knows parents exist			
Socializes with anyone, but knows mother or primary	and will return			
caregiver	Tests limits			
Responds to tickling				
INTELLECTUAL/COGNITIVE:				
Vocalizes sounds (coos)	Responds to changes in environment and can repeat action			
Smiles and expresses pleasure	that caused it			
Recognizes primary caregiver	Begins to respond selectively to words			
Uses both hands to grasp objects	Demonstrates intentional behavior, initiates actions			
Has extensive visual interests	Realizes objects exist when out of sight and will look for			
Puts everything in mouth	them (object permanence)			
Solves simple problems, e.g., will move obstacles aside to	Is interested and understands words			
reach objects	Says words like "mama," "dada"			

Source: National Resource Center for Permanency and Family Connections
Hunter College School of Social Work • 129 E. 79th Street • New York, NY 10021

Tel. 212/452-7053 • Fax. 212/452-7051 • www.nrcfcppp.org

Transfers objects from hand to hand

April 1, 2016 (New) 66 | Page

Act Early: Contact The Child's Pediatrician If:

By 2 months the child...

- Doesn't respond to loud sounds
- Doesn't watch things as they move
- Doesn't bring hands to his mouth
- Can't hold head up while on stomach and pushing up

By 4 months the child...

- Doesn't watch things as they move
- Doesn't smile at people
- Can't hold head steady
- Doesn't coo or make sounds
- Doesn't bring things to mouth
- Doesn't push down with legs when feet are placed on a hard surface
- Has trouble moving one or both eyes in all directions

By 6 months the child...

- Doesn't try to get things that are in reach
- Shows no affection for caregivers
- Doesn't respond to sounds
- Has difficulty getting things to mouth
- Doesn't make vowel sounds ("ah," "eh," "oh," etc.)
- Doesn't roll over in either direction
- Doesn't laugh or make squealing sounds
- Seems very stiff, with tight muscles
- Seems very floppy, like a rag doll

By 9 months the child...

- Doesn't bear weight on legs with support
- Doesn't sit with help
- Doesn't babble ("mama," "baba," "dada," etc.)
- Doesn't play any games involving back-and-forth play
- Doesn't respond to own name
- Doesn't seem to recognize familiar people
- Doesn't look where you point
- Doesn't transfer toys from one hand to the other

By 1 year the child...

- Doesn't crawl
- Can't stand when supported
- Doesn't search for things that he or she sees you hide
- Doesn't say single words like "mama" or "dada"
- Doesn't learn gestures like waving or shaking head
- Doesn't point to things
- Loses previously achieved skill sets or abilities

By 18 months the child...

- Doesn't point to show things to others
- Can't walk
- Doesn't know what familiar things are for
- Doesn't copy others
- Doesn't gain new words
- Doesn't have at least 6 words
- Doesn't notice or mind when a caregiver leaves or returns
- · Loses previously achieved skill sets or abilities

Source: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: "Learn the Signs. Act Early. Milestones 18 months – NCBDD." Published online at: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/mile

April 1, 2016 (New) 67 | Page

Developmental Milestones for Toddlers (18-36 months)

PHYSICAL:

- Enjoys physical activities such as running, kicking, climbing, jumping, etc.
- Beginnings of bladder and bowel control develop towards latter part of this stage
- Increasingly able to manipulate small objects with hands

SOCIAL-EMOTIONAL:

- Becomes aware of limits; says "no" often
- Begins establishing a positive, distinct sense of self through continuous exploration of the world
- Continuing to develop communication skills and experiencing the responsiveness of others
- Needs to exhibit autonomy and achieve some simple tasks for him- or herself
- Makes simple choices such as what to eat, what to wear and what activity to do

INTELLECTUAL/COGNITIVE:

- Has a limited vocabulary of 500-3,000 words and is able to form three to four word sentences
- Has a basic grasp of prepositions (in, on, off, out, away, etc.)
- Most toddlers can count, but they do so from memory without a true understanding of what the numbers represent
- Cognitively, children in this age range are very egocentric and concrete in their thinking and believe that adults know everything. This means that they look at everything from their own perspective.
- They assume that everyone else sees, acts and feels the same way they do, and believe that adults already know everything. This results in their feeling that they don't need to explain an event in detail.
- Toddlers might have a very clear picture of events as they relate to themselves but may have difficulty expressing thoughts or providing detail. Because of this, most of the questions will need to be asked by their caregivers.
- Toddlers are able to relate their experiences, in detail, when specifically and appropriately questioned
- Learning to use memory and acquiring the basics of selfcontrol

Source: National Resource Center for Permanency and Family Connections

Hunter College School of Social Work • 129 E. 79th Street • New York, NY 10021

Tel. 212/452-7053 • Fax. 212/452-7051 • www.nrcfcppp.org

Act Early: Contact The Child's Pediatrician If:

By 2 years the child...

- Doesn't use 2-word phrases (for example, "drink milk")
- Doesn't know what to do with common things, like a brush, phone, fork, spoon, etc.
- Doesn't copy actions and words
- Doesn't follow simple instructions
- Doesn't walk steadily
- Loses previously achieved skill sets or abilities

Source: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: "Learn the Signs. Act Early. Milestones 2 Years – NCBDD." Published online at: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/milestones-2yr.html

April 1, 2016 (New) 68 | Page

Developmental Milestones for Pre-Schoolers (3-6 years)

PHYSICAL:

- Is able to dress and undress
- Has refined coordination and is learning many new skills
- Is very active and likes to do things like climb, hop, skip and do stunts

SOCIAL-EMOTIONAL:

- Develops capacity to share and take turns
- Plays cooperatively with peers
- Is developing some independence and self-reliance
- Is developing ethnic and gender identities

- Learning to distinguish between reality and fantasy
- Learning to make connections and distinctions between feelings, thoughts and actions

INTELLECTUAL/COGNITIVE:

- With preschoolers, their ability to understand language usually develops ahead of their speech
- By age 6, their vocabulary will have increased to between 8,000 and 14,000 words but it is important to remember that children in this age group often repeat words without fully understanding their meanings
- They have learned the use of most prepositions (up/down, ahead/behind, etc.) and some basic possessive pronouns (mine, his, ours, etc.) and have started to master adjectives
- Preschool children continue to be egocentric and concrete in their thinking. They are still unable to see things from another's perspective, and they reason based on specifics that they can visualize and that have importance to them (e.g., "Mom and Dad" instead of "family").

- When questioned, they can generally express who, what, where and sometimes how, but not when or how many
- They are able to provide a fair amount of detail about a situation
- It is important to keep in mind that children in this age range continue to have trouble with the concepts of sequence and time. As a result, they may seem inconsistent when telling a story simply because they hardly ever follow a beginning-middle-end approach.

Source: National Resource Center for Permanency and Family Connections
Hunter College School of Social Work • 129 E. 79th Street • New York, NY 10021
Tel. 212/452-7053 • Fax. 212/452-7051 • www.nrcfcppp.org

April 1, 2016 (New) 69 | Page

Act Early: Contact The Child's Pediatrician If:

By 3 years the child...

- Falls down a lot or has trouble with stairs
- Drools or has very unclear speech
- Can't work simple toys (such as peg boards, simple puzzles, turning handles, etc.)
- Doesn't speak in sentences
- Doesn't understand simple instructions
- Doesn't play pretend or make-believe
- Doesn't want to play with other children or with toys
- Doesn't make eye contact
- Loses previously achieved skill sets or abilities

By 4 years the child...

- Can't jump in place
- Has trouble scribbling
- Shows no interest in interactive games or make-believe
- Ignores other children or doesn't respond to people outside the family
- Resists dressing, sleeping and using the toilet
- Can't retell a favorite story
- Doesn't follow 3-part commands
- Doesn't understand "same" and "different"
- Doesn't use "me" and "you" correctly
- Speaks unclearly
- Loses previously achieved skill sets or abilities

By 5 years the child...

- Doesn't show a wide range of emotions
- Shows extreme behavior (unusually fearful, aggressive, shy or sad)
- Unusually withdrawn and not active
- Is easily distracted, has trouble focusing on one activity for more than 5 minutes
- Doesn't respond to people, or responds only superficially
- · Can't tell what's real and what's make-believe
- Doesn't play a variety of games and activities
- Can't give first and last name
- Doesn't use plurals or past tense properly
- Doesn't talk about daily activities or experiences
- Doesn't draw pictures
- Can't brush teeth, wash and dry hands or get undressed without help
- Loses previously achieved skill sets or abilities

Source: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: "Learn the Signs. Act Early. Milestones – NCBDD." Published online at: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/index.html

April 1, 2016 (New) 70 | Page

Key developmental skills for young children to master include the following:

- Ability to manage impulses and regulate their own behavior;
- Learn to identify and start to understand their own feelings;
- Learn to manage strong emotions and express them in a constructive manner;
- Learn to recognize emotions and emotional cues in others;
- Learn to develop empathy for others;
- Ability to establish and sustain close relationships and friendships; and
- Learn to develop confidence, cooperativeness and the capacity to communicate.

Attachment²⁹

Understanding the Importance of Attachment in the Early Years

Attachment helps develop a sense of safety, encourages socialization, stimulates intellectual and psychological growth and influences identity. It is a reciprocal, bi-directional tie between two or more people which typically starts with the primary caregiver and gradually broadens to others. Infants are capable of developing multiple attachments (*e.g.*, to mothers, fathers, grandparents). Usually however, they have one parent who is their "primary attachment figure."

Stable, caring relationships are essential for healthy development. Children develop in an environment of relationships that begin in the home and include extended family members, natural supports, early care and education providers and members of the community.

The quality of the attachment is one of the strongest predictors of later development.

Numerous scientific studies around attachment support the following conclusions: **providing supportive, responsive relationships as early in life as possible can prevent or reverse the damaging effects of toxic stress.**

THE KEY FACTOR IN
PROMOTING A
SECURE ATTACHMENT
IS PARENTING
BEHAVIOR

Parental behaviors typically associated with secure attachment include:

- Sensitive and responsive care;
- Clear, consistent, developmentally appropriate expectations and supervision;
- Warm, positive and responsive verbal interaction;
- Seeing the child as a unique individual, having insight into the child (i.e., why he does what he does); and
- "Holding the child in mind" (i.e., awareness of and ability to reflect on the parent's own feelings and responses to the child)

Infant and early childhood behaviors associated with secure attachment include:

- Comfort exploring in the presence of an attachment figure;
- When hurt, going to an attachment figure for comfort not a stranger);
- Seeking help when needed;
- Willingness to comply with requests with minimal conflict; and
- No pattern of controlling or directing the behavior of caregivers (no role reversal)

April 1, 2016 (New) 71 | Page

²⁹http://www.aboutkidshealth.ca/En/News/Series/Attachment/Pages/Attachment-Part-Two-Patterns-of-attachment.aspx and http://www.healingresources.info/children attachment.htm

Insecure Attachment – disrupted relationships.

An **insecure attachment** is characterized by the child's inability to use his or her parent for comfort or as a secure base. Insensitive, rejecting or inconsistent parenting has been linked to insecure attachment.

Parental behaviors typically associated with insecure attachment include:

- Interfering with the child's attempts at exploration (e.q., intrusive, overly controlling);
- Unclear, inconsistent, developmentally inappropriate expectations and supervision;
- Ignoring the child's needs and cues;
- Inconsistent, unreliable responsiveness;
- Hostile, threatening and frightening behaviors;
- Prioritizing the parent's needs over the child's (i.e., self-absorbed);
- Behaving like a child or treating the child as though he or she is in charge (i.e., role-reversal);
- Marked withdrawal, fright, hesitance or timidity around the child; and
- Sexualized or overly intimate behaviors

Infant and early childhood behaviors associated with insecure attachment include:

- Excessive dependence;
- Marked shyness, withdrawal or unfriendliness;
- Failure to seek contact or comfort when needed;
- Indiscriminate friendliness or contact-seeking;
- Punitive, bossy behaviors;
- Over-concern with the parent's well-being (i.e., role reversal);
- Disoriented or frightened in presence of the parent, such as approaching while looking away, stilling, freezing or rocking; and
- · Promiscuous, sexualized behavior

There are three basic types of insecure attachment as follows:

Ambivalent Attachment

Ambivalent or Resistant Attachment stems from the infant's experience of inconsistent parenting when the child is never quite sure if his or her expressions of anxiety and distress will be suitably attended to. There is a lack of consistent nurturing and protection from the parent that makes it hard for the infant to feel that exploring the world is a safe option. As such, the child has a low threshold for distress, but no confidence that comfort will be forthcoming. When upset, he or she tries to get close to the caregiver, only to become angry and resist contact. This pattern can be carried into adulthood and there it reveals itself in relationship difficulties where there is either a withdrawal from others or a compulsion to be dependent. This is the hysterical personality who "flees from intimacy," and, like the ambivalent child, tends to be demanding or clingy, immature and easily overwhelmed by her own emotions.

The insecure-resistant infant is very likely to cry during the separation episodes. When the mother returns, the child often continues to cry; he or she often looks at and reaches for the mother with little or no active approach. When picked up, he or she does not actively cling and is not easily comforted. If the mother offers a toy, the child often shows continued distress by slapping at it or at the mother, but this is not accompanied by active turning in or by clinging.

This attachment style is considered relatively uncommon, affecting an estimated 7-15% of U.S. children. Research suggests that ambivalent attachment is a result of poor maternal availability. These children cannot depend on their mothers (or other caregivers) to be there when they are in need. Avoidant attachment is a strategy often developed by an infant whose parents have discouraged overt signs of either affection or distress, and who do not readily offer sympathy or comfort. The insecure avoidant infant rarely cries when separated from the primary caregivers and avoids contact upon his or her return. The avoidant infant does not react with protest to the mother's departure in an unfamiliar setting. Instead, the

April 1, 2016 (New) 72 | Page

infant typically diverts attention from her exit and explores actively while she is out of the room. This independent-appearing behavior often looks quite positive to an observer. However, an avoidant infant also does not immediately acknowledge the mother's return to the room, averting his or her gaze when the mother enters and initially moving away from her if she approaches. When offered a choice, these children will show no preference between a caregiver and a complete stranger.

Disorganized Attachment

Disorganized/disoriented attachment refers to children who seem frightened or disorganized in the presence of their parents. Children with a disorganized attachment often display a confusing mix of behavior and may seem disoriented, dazed or confused. Children may both avoid and resist the parent.

Disorganized attachment occurs when the parent either has so many unresolved emotional issues from their own pasts that they have no mental space left over for their babies or when the threat is graver. The baby is biologically impelled to seek safety through closeness to the caregiver. When the parent is the source of fear, the child is left with no coherent means of relating to other people.

Abuse and neglect in the first years of life have a particularly pervasive impact. Prenatal development and the first two years of life are the time when the genetic, organic and neurochemical foundations for impulse control are being created. It is also the time when the capacity for rational thinking and sensitivity to other people are being rooted - or not - in the child's personality. The impact can be visible almost straight away, as it has been found that the rate of disorganized attachment associated with failure to thrive is extremely high.

Babies with disorganized/disoriented attachment often show inconsistent, contradictory behaviors. They greet their mothers brightly when they return, but then turn away or approach without looking at her. They seem confused and afraid. Some researchers believe that the lack of a clear attachment pattern is likely linked to inconsistent behavior from caregivers. In such cases, parents may serve as both a source of comfort and a source of fear, leading to disorganized behavior.

A child who was insecurely attached in infancy is more likely in childhood to have poor social skills (*e.g.*, withdrawal or aggression), to act out and be disobedient, to have poor communication skills, to be impulsive and easily distracted, and to lack curiosity and motivation in school. It is important to note that an insecure attachment does not fate a child to failure. Change certainly can occur. The longer a child is on a specific path, however, the harder it is to alter the course.

Assessing Attachment and Bonding: Birth to Age 1

Does the Child?	Does the Parent?
Appear alert	Respond to the infant's vocalization
Respond to people	Change voice tone when talking to or about the baby
Show interest in the human face	Engage in face-to-face contact with the infant
Track with his or her eyes	Exhibit interest in and encourage age-appropriate development
Vocalize frequently	Respond to the child's cues
Exhibit expected motor development	Demonstrate the ability to comfort the infant
Enjoy close physical contact	Enjoy close physical contact with the baby
Signal discomfort	Initiate positive interactions with the infant
Appear to be easily comforted	Identify positive qualities in the child
Exhibit normal or excessive fussiness	
Appear outgoing or passive and withdrawn	Source: a Child's Journey Through Placement, Vera I Fahlberg,
Have good muscle tone	MD, p 41

April 1, 2016 (New) 73 | Page

Assessing Attachment and Bonding: Age 1 to Age 5

Does the Child?	Does the Parent?
 Explore his or her surroundings Respond positively to parents Keep him- or herself occupied Show signs of reciprocity Seem relaxed and happy Look at people when communicating Show emotions in a recognizable manner React to pain and pleasure Engage in age-appropriate activities Use speech appropriately Respond to parental limit setting Demonstrate normal fears React positively to physical closeness Show a response to separation Note the parent's return Exhibit signs of pride and joy Show signs of empathy Show signs of embarrassment, shame or guilt 	 Use disciplinary measures appropriate for the child's age Respond to the child's overtures Initiate affection Provide effective comforting Initiate positive interactions with the child Accept expressions of autonomy See the child as positively "taking after" a family member Seem aware of child's cues Enjoy reciprocal interactions with the child Respond to child's affection Set age-appropriate limits Respond supportively when the child shows fears Source: a Child's Journey Through Placement, Vera I Fahlberg, MD, p 42.

Symptoms that are Commonly Seen in Children with Attachment Problems		
Psychological or Behavioral Problems		
Conscience development	 May not show normal anxiety following aggressive or cruel behavior May not show guilt on breaking laws or rules May project blame on others 	
Impulse Control	 Exhibits poor control; depends upon others to provide Exhibits lack of foresight Has a poor attention span 	
Self-esteem	 Is unable to get satisfaction from tasks well done Sees self as undeserving Sees self as incapable of change Has difficulty having fun 	
Impersonal interactions	 Lacks trust in others Demands affection but lacks depth in relationships Exhibits hostile dependency Needs to be in control of all situations Has impaired social maturity 	
Emotions	 Has trouble recognizing own feelings Has difficulty expressing feelings appropriately – especially anger, sadness and frustration Has difficulty recognizing feelings on others 	

April 1, 2016 (New) 74 | Page

Cognitive Problems	Developmental Problems
 Has trouble with basic cause and effect Experiences problems with logical thinking Appears to have confused thought processes Has difficulty thinking ahead May have an impaired sense of time Has difficulties with abstract thinking 	 May have difficulty with auditory processing May have difficulty expressing self well verbally May have gross motor problems May experience delays in fine motor adaptive skills May experience delays in personal social environment May have inconsistent levels of skills in all of the above areas Source: a Child's Journey Through Placement, Vera I Fahlberg, MD, p 53.

Encouraging Attachment for Children in Placement

Responding to the Child	Initiating Positive Interactions
 Using the child's tantrums to encourage attachment Responding to the child when he or she is physically ill Accompanying the child to doctor and dentist appointments Helping the child express and cope with feelings of anger and frustration Sharing the child's excitement over his or her achievements Helping the child cope with feelings about placement 	 Making affectionate overtures: hugs, kisses, physical closeness Reading to the child Playing games Going shopping together for clothes or toys for child Going on special outings Supporting the child's outside activities and interests Helping the child with homework when he or she needs it Teaching the child about extended family members through pictures and talk Teaching the child to participate in family activities
 Helping the child cope with ambivalent feelings about his or her birth family Responding to a child who is hurt or injured 	Source: a Child's Journey Through Placement, Vera I Fahlberg, MD, p 62.

Resources on Children's Social and Emotional Competence

Zero to Three:

Tips and tools for supporting your child's social and emotional development

Contains a lot of helpful resources for promoting social and emotional development like podcasts, tip sheets, scholarly articles and info sheets, including:

- Tips for Promoting Social-Emotional Development Discusses how parents can support their child's socialemotional development through everyday interactions.
- **Social-Emotional Development From Birth to Three** Information about social-emotional development at three different ages:
 - o Birth to 12 months
 - o 12 to 24 months
 - o 24 to 36 months
- How Young Children Begin Learning Self-Control from Birth to Three These age-based handouts focus on how children begin learning self-control—the ability to manage their emotions and stick to the limits that are set.
 - o Birth to 12 months
 - o 12 to 24 months
 - o 24 to 36 months

April 1, 2016 (New) 75 | Page

Center on the Social and Emotional Foundations for Early Learning (Pyramid Model)

Resources: Family Tools, which include several training modules, such as:

- Infant/Toddler Training Modules
- Pre-School Training Modules
- Pre-School Parent Training Modules
- Infant/Toddler Parent Training Modules

Pyramid Model Consortium – Promotes public health 'triage' approach to social emotional supports and interventions http://www.pyramidmodel.org/

American Academy of Pediatrics

Tips to Promote Social-Emotional Health Among Young Children

www.AbilityPath.org

How to Support Your Child's Social-Emotional Development Contains an overview of some ways to support a child's social-emotional development

Center for Early Childhood Mental Health Consultation

Georgetown University Center for Child and Human Development

Tutorial 6 · Recognizing and Supporting the Social and Emotional Health of Young Children Birth to Age Five Contains a detailed understanding of the behaviors related to social and emotional health in infants and young children, as well as strategies that adults can use to support these behaviors within every day routines in the home and within early care and education settings.

Syracuse University

Mid-State Central Early Childhood Direction Center Bulletin Summer 2009

<u>Understanding Social and Emotional Development in Young Children</u>

Provides information about social and emotional development and answers key questions.

CULTURAL CONSIDERATIONS

In order to fully assess the parenting skills and needs of parents, including adolescent parents, their cultural backgrounds must also be understood. Culture and one's own family history, play critical roles in the development of parenting beliefs including expectations of children, discipline, parenting roles and the understanding of child development and children's needs. It is important to engage parents in a discussion about their cultures to understand how this may influence their parenting styles and values.

When asking parents to describe their cultural backgrounds, the Social Worker shall consider the following:

- Primary language
- Religion
- Food
- Traditions
- Holiday/birthday celebrations
- Role of extended family and friends
- Hair and skin care

April 1, 2016 (New) 76 | Page

When asking parents to describe how their race and culture influence their parenting style and values, the Social Worker shall consider the following:

- Roles and expectations of mothers, fathers, partners and extended family members
- Discipline/encouragement of children/respect for elders
- Understanding of child development (milestones, feeding, sleeping, activity)
- Safe sleep practices
- Parent interaction/nurturing children
- Displays of affection with children
- Supervision of their children
- Definitions of abuse/neglect
- Meaning of child behavior/cues
- Asking for help
- Self-advocacy

These discussions should occur not only with the parent or parenting adolescent in DCF care, but also with the parenting teen's partner and/or other parent of the young child to complete a full assessment of child safety. Adolescent fathers and mothers should be encouraged to explore their cultural, spiritual and linguistic identity formation through the use of culturally competent services to meet their needs. They should also be afforded the opportunity to discuss cultural and generational norms when it comes to parenting. Assessment should also include issues of immigration that might be impacting the family, such as adaptation due to recent arrival in the country and legal resident or undocumented families. Additionally, families coming from countries with an unstable government may have trust issues which may impact assessment and connection to services.

ASSESSING THE HOME ENVIRONMENT

Observations of the home environment are a critical component of any assessment of individual and family functioning. Meeting with clients in their communities and in their home environments allows us to engage children and families in their own space and offers Social Workers the opportunity to learn more about their clients beyond just what is reported to them. Observations of a home environment can help support an assessment and what a client tells us, or it may raise questions about issues that require further exploration. Through in-home visitation, we are able to assess how a client's environment impacts his or her functioning and well-being. Social Workers should pay attention to what they see, hear and smell during home visits. The home environment should be assessed for indicators of mental health issues, substance use and intimate partner violence. In addition, the home itself should be observed for any potential safety hazards that may present a risk to the children and adults residing there. Social Workers should be mindful of the family's cultural and religious beliefs and practices and how these may influence the appearance of the home environment.

Social Workers should consider the child's perspective and experience within the home environment and with their caregivers.

Social Workers are reminded to be aware of anything in the home visit that may be a risk to their own safety and to make their supervisors aware. Consideration should also be given to a family's cultural, linguistic and religious practices and how these may place expectations on visitors to the home (e.g., removing one's shoes).

April 1, 2016 (New) 77 | Page

The following questions have been developed by staff in the field to gather information designed to inform the assessment. (Please note that these questions are not research-based nor have them been validated.)

Below is a list of factors Social Workers are advised to consider on home visits:

- 1. Are there smokers in the home?
- 2. Is the caregiver able to keep up with the daily responsibilities of maintaining the home?
- 3. Is the home clean?
- 4. Is the home cluttered or are there any indications of hoarding?
- 5. Is the home childproofed? (Gates, outlet covers, pool cover and gate, screens on windows, etc.)
- 6. Are the children's beds near a window? Are children able to climb up to the window?
- 7. Are there any infestations (rodents or bugs)?
- 8. Are there any signs of substance abuse in the home (smell, ashtrays, empty bottles and cans, drug paraphernalia)?
- 9. Are there any signs of violence in the home (holes in walls, broken items or furniture)?
- 10. Are there broken windows, exposed wires, working utilities, running water and working plumbing?
- 11. Are there any weapons or firearms in the home?
- 12. Are there visitors to the home or different people present in the home during home visits?
- 13. How is the living environment financially supported? Sources of income? Expenses?
- 14. What is the heat source? (gas, electric, pellet stove, space heaters)
- 15. Who lives in the home? Get names and dates of birth of all household members, boyfriends, girlfriends, babysitters, frequent visitors to the home, relative or fictive kin resources (CPS checks on all household members)
- 16. Are any doors to rooms locked in the home or is the parent unwilling to allow access to any area of the home?
- 17. Are there any additional people living in the home or renters, whom the parent would not necessarily consider a household member but who have access to the child (ren)?
- 18. Are there any pets or exotic animals in the home?

Infancy and Young Children

- 1. Is there an adequate supply of formula, food, diapers, wipes and clothing for the child?
- 2. Do the caregivers ever keep the child in a soiled diaper longer than desired due to a lack of supply of diapers?
- 3. Are there age-appropriate toys in the home? Is there space and time for "tummy time" and physical activity versus infant seats and strollers?

Safe sleep

- 1. Where does the child sleep?
- 2. What does the caregiver understand about the dangers of co-sleeping with infants?
- 3. Do the caregivers ever bring the baby into the bed to sleep?
- 4. When the baby wakes up during the night, who tends to the baby and how is the baby put back to sleep?
- 5. Does the baby wake up to eat during the night? Where is the baby fed at that time? Does the caregiver ever fall asleep while feeding the baby in the middle of the night?
- 6. Does the baby use a pacifier?

April 1, 2016 (New) 78 | Page

Assessing Parenting and the Parent/Child Relationship

Observation-Parent

- 1. Parent initiates behaviors that foster attachment and bonding.
- 2. Parent makes eye contact with child.
- 3. Parent positions child to engage in physical and verbal exchange (e.g., talks, sings, rocks infant).
- 4. Parent shows pleasure toward infant in gaze, voice or smile.
- 5. Parent responds positively toward infant's cues.
- 6. Parent engages in pleasurable give and take with infant during play.
- 7. Parent is able to meet the physical needs of child (e.q., feeding, changing diaper and changing soiled clothing).
- 8. Parent recognizes infant's cry and responds immediately.
- 9. Parent uses appropriate response toward negative behaviors.
- 10. Parent encourages the child and allows the child to safely explore the environment without punishment.
- 11. Where is the child during the home visit? Does the parent hold the child? Is the child generally in a car seat or a crib during the visit?
- 12. What are your observations of the parents caring for the baby? Do they seem natural, awkward, frustrated or angry?
- 13. Does the caregiver seem to be knowledgeable about the baby's needs?

Observation- Child

- 1. Child initiates behaviors that foster attachment and bonding.
- 2. Child makes eye contact with parent.
- 3. Child positions self to engage in physical and verbal exchange (e.g., appears comfortable and relaxed when held, blows bubbles, coos, babbles, engages easily in "serve and return" with parent.)
- 4. Child shows pleasure at the sound of parent's voice and touch.

Assessing Parental Capacity

- 1. What do you like most/least about your child?
- 2. What do you like most/least about being a parent?
- 3. Do you ever leave your child with people you don't know very well just to [get a break], [use drugs or drink] or [go to work]?
- 4. Do you know the names and addresses of others who provide care for your child(ren)?
- 5. Is there anything you would like to change about your caregiving/parenting style or how you and your child inter-
- 6. We all know that parenting young children can be very difficult. What do you do or how do you handle those moments when it is the most difficult?
- 7. What do you do when your baby won't stop crying?
- 8. What do your child's other caregivers do when the child won't stop crying?
- 9. What does your best day with your kids look like?
- 10. What does your worst day with your kids look like?
- 11. What does your child do when he or she is content and happy? How does the child show that he or she is upset, hurt, sad or afraid? What helps to soothe your child?
- 12. Is there anything about your child's behavior or development that worries you or makes it hard for you to parent?
- 13. What things do you enjoy most about your child? What things frustrate you about your child or your parenting experience?
- 14. How have you and your household/family adjusted to having a young child in the home?
- 15. How do you support your child's social and emotional growth?
- 16. How do you set limits and consequences for your child?
- 17. What are your expectations of your child for his or her age?
- 18. What is different about your child or parenting experience than you thought it would be?

April 1, 2016 (New) 79 | Page

- 19. How do you plan or multi-task to meet the needs of the child and get things done for yourself and partner or spouse and in the home? How do you think you are doing with handling the demands of parenting?
- 20. How would you like your child's experience to be the same as or different from your own?
- 21. How does your race or culture influence your parenting style and values?
- 22. Who is responsible for making medical appointments for the baby? Who goes to the appointments and ensures that any recommendations are followed?
- 23. Has the child had any visits to the hospital, emergency department or other emergency care center?
- 24. Please tell me about your child's:
 - a) **Temperament:** amount of crying, tantrums, ability to be soothed (by who and how), ability to adjust to changes in routine or environment
 - b) Eating: what (breastfeeding, formula or solid foods), how much and how often in a day
 - c) **Sleeping:** morning wake up time, nap schedule, bedtime routine, night time wake ups (who gets up, how often, what helps the child get back to sleep), safe sleep
 - d) Diapers: numbers of diapers used per day, diaper supply, toilet training progress
 - e) **Activity level:** tummy time, rolling over, sitting, crawling, walking, running, interest in objects and environment
 - f) Social: smiling, eye contact, babbling, talking, separation anxiety
 - g) Describe a typical day for your child

Assessment of the Parent's Perception of the Child

These are sample questions from the Working Model of the Child Interview (Zeanah, Benoit, Barton, 1993). The interview questions are designed to help the interviewer develop an assessment of the parent's relationship to his or her child. The interviewer should encourage the parent to reflect on his or her relationship with the child when thinking about the answers to the questions. This interview format can assist the Social Worker in gaining a better understanding of the parent's feelings in regards to the child and the parent's perception of the child and should be used as a tool to further assess the parent/child relationship.

1	Tall ma shout y	YOUR CHILD'S	narcanality	What kind of a ki	dic 3	١
т.	Tell file about	your Crited 3	personanty.	vviiat kiilu ol a ki	u is :	

- 2. Pick 5 words to describe your CHILD.
- 3. Now try to remember one particular moment or memory that shows why you chose each of those words to describe .
- 4. Whom does your CHILD remind you of?
- 5. Which of his or her parents is your CHILD most like?
- 6. In what ways is he/she like you? Like his or her other parent?
- 7. How did you decide on your CHILD's name?
- 8. Pick 5 words to describe your relationship with your child.
- 9. Now try to remember one particular moment or memory that shows why you chose each of those words to describe your relationship with ______.
- 10. What do you enjoy most about your relationship with your CHILD?
- 11. What do you wish you could change about your relationship with your CHILD?
- 12. How do you feel your relationship with your CHILD has affected his or her personality?
- 13. Tell me a favorite story about your CHILD.
- 14. Think for a moment of your CHILD as an adult. What hopes do you have for his or her future?
- 15. What fears do you have about his or her future?

When reviewing the parent's responses to the questions, the Social Worker shall consider the parent's emotional tone, facial expressions and affect. For example, is the parent angry when talking about the child, does the parent talk about the child in a primarily negative way or is the parent smiling and expressing joy and pleasure in talking about the child? Social Workers shall pay attention to whether there are any distortions in the parent's thinking about the child - if the

April 1, 2016 (New) 80 | Page

parent views the child as a problem or whether the parent is attributing motives to the child's behavior that would usually be associated with adult behavior and emotions. It is also important to examine the parent's sensitivity to the child's experience and whether the parent has the capacity to reflect on the meaning of the child's behavior. For example, how does the parent make sense of a child's behavior and is the parent open to a different view? Parenting young children can present many challenges. When thinking about the parent's answers, consider whether the parent is able to see the good and bad of situations, and whether he or she is able to separate the experience as a parent from that of the child's experience.

Failure to Thrive

Failure to Thrive in children, primarily infants, results from inadequate nutrition to maintain physical growth and development.

The following factors contribute to the infant being diagnosed as Failure to Thrive:

Parental Factors	Infant Factors	Environmental Factors
 ✓ Substance abuse ✓ Domestic violence/IPV ✓ Poor parenting skills and knowledge ✓ Parental depression and stress ✓ Poor parent/child bond ✓ High-risk pregnancy and delivery ✓ CPS history ✓ Lack of social supports 	 ✓ Premature birth or low birth weight ✓ Chronic illness or disability ✓ Feeding difficulties or food aversions ✓ Behavioral or developmental problems 	✓ Poverty✓ Lack of support✓ Isolation

Failure to Thrive may be due to:

- poor understanding of the baby's needs and how to respond
- inability to provide appropriate nutrition and stimulation
- poor parenting role models
- increased stress experienced by parents when they are unable to meet or understand the child's basic needs
- frustration when attempting to deal with difficult feeding issues or complications in feeding due to illness or disability

Abusive Head Trauma (Shaken Baby)

Abusive Head Trauma formerly known as Shaken Baby, is one of the most deadly and devastating forms of child abuse and is caused by sudden and repeated violent shaking of an infant. This vigorous shaking causes the brain to pull away, tearing brain cells and blood vessels. Violent shaking is especially dangerous to infants and young children because their neck muscles are not fully developed and their brain tissue is exceptionally fragile.

Often the outward signs of injury to an infant or young child are not obvious as the injuries are internal, particularly in the area of the head or eyes. These injuries can include:

- brain swelling and damage
- subdural hemorrhage
- mental retardation or developmental delays
- blindness, hearing loss, paralysis, speech and learning difficulties
- death

April 1, 2016 (New) 81 | Page

The following risk factors have been identified:

Infant Factors	Perpetrator Factors
✓ premature birth or low birth weight	✓ failed repeated efforts to stop the baby from crying
✓ disability	✓ poor impulse control
✓ incessant crying	✓ unrealistic expectations of child
√ toileting problems	✓ feelings of inadequacy and isolation
✓ colic	✓ substance use
✓ multiple-birth pregnancy	✓ unemployment
✓ poor sleeping routine	✓ lack of social supports
✓ behavioral or developmental problems	✓ no understanding of consequences for repeated shaking
✓ age under one year	✓ inability to cope with stress
✓ male	√ young age
✓ stepchild	✓ rigid attitudes and impulsivity
	✓ depression
	✓ negative childhood experiences including abuse, neglect or
	domestic violence
	✓ low educational status
	√ domestic violence
	✓ sleep deprivation

Foster Care Resources and Connections for Children in the 0-5 Age Group (Information Given to Foster Parents which can be Reviewed during Visits).

As a licensed foster parent for children in the 0-5 age group, you are being entrusted to care for the most vulnerable children. Many of you have personal parenting experience which will help you in caring for young children in foster care; however, caring for a child who is not yours will present challenges to even the most experienced parent.

As parents, you know there are continuous changes taking place for children such as safety laws, health standards, educational laws, new baby products and what resources are available for families and children in the community, to name a few.

Within 5 days of a child being placed in your home, your Support Social Worker is required to make what is called an *Initial Placement Visit*. The purpose of this visit is to review everything regarding the child just placed in your home, discuss any concerns or issues you may have and ensure you have everything you need to effectively care for the child. The Worker will also observe the child's sleeping area to make sure it is safe and meets regulations.

Below are some key points your support Social Worker and the child's Worker will review and or discuss following the placement of a new child.

Multidisciplinary Evaluation (MDE) appointment. A child entering care for the first time is referred for a MDE. The MDE is a full evaluation done on the child at a local clinic, and is separate from any physical completed by the child's pediatrician. A coordinator from that program will contact the foster family to schedule the evaluation with a few days of placement. Prior to the evaluation, a questionnaire will be sent to the foster family for completion to the best of their ability. It is the expectation that the foster family make arrangements to bring the child to this evaluation as there may be other questions during the evaluation that only the foster parent is able to answer. Following the MDE, recommendations are written up in a report and sent to the child's Worker for follow through. Newborns placed directly from the hospital or a child who was previously placed in foster care does not require this evaluation.

April 1, 2016 (New) 82 | Page

- Review of the Medical Passport and the DCF-469 Placement Request for important historical and demographic information regarding the child. The child's medical insurance card may not arrive for several days; however, you use the child's EMS number for appointments.
- Review the child's primary care physician contact information
- Discuss Safe Sleep Environment and sign the SIDS Pledge Agreement Form
- Car Seat Safety: making sure the car seat for the child is not expired, it is the appropriate type of car seat depending on the child's age and weight and it is properly installed
- If the child was enrolled in the WIC program, as a foster parent you qualify to receive this assistance which provides formula, baby food and other nutritional food items for the child in your care.
- If you work outside of the home and require early care and education, DCF can assist you in securing a provider. Infants cannot enroll in early care until they are over 6 weeks of age. Your Support Social Worker can help identify another licensed foster family who is a stay-at-home parent to watch the child should you not be able to take the time off. A child in care can only attend a <u>licensed</u> early care and education program, whether it is a family child care or center program. Children in foster care are categorically eligible for Head Start and Early Head Start family child care or center-based programs at no cost. If another early care and education provider is chosen, working families are required to apply for the Care4Kids subsidy to help cover the expense of care. If you have identified a personal friend to help with care, he or she can only provide care to the child in your home, and background checks have to be completed on that individual.
- CPR Certification: It is imperative that as foster parents caring for young children, you are certified in CPR and
 first aid. If you are not certified at time of placement, you can ask your Support Social Worker for assistance to
 receive the training.
- CST (Caregiver Support Team) program: this program is specific for relative and fictive kin foster families to support the child's placement. It can also be utilized for core foster families to decrease the chance of disruption.

Resources for Families

Need	Contact
 Early Care and Education Early Care Subsidies Formula/Baby Food 	 Infoline: 211 or DCF SW Care 4 Kids: 211 WIC office @ 203-574-6785
 Diaper Bank Developmental Concerns Ethnic Hair Care Support Groups Ongoing Training In-home Support School Readiness Summer Safety Counseling/Mental Health 	 Catholic Charities of Waterbury 203-596-9359 Birth to Three: 1-800-505-7000 or birth23.org Can inquire with biological parent or DCF SW Monthly English and Spanish Support Groups, CAFAP CAFAP and Foster Parent College-online courses Caregiver Support Team (CST) Program Child's SW/Intake Center for programs 203-574-8024 ctsafekids.org Various agencies - consult with SW
• EMPS	• 211

Foster families should advocate for what they feel is in the child's best interest. If there is a program or service you as a foster parent feel is helpful or can be explored further, please let either your Support Social Worker or the child's Worker know.

Fatherhood Initiative Programs at CJTS

The Connecticut Juvenile Training School (CJTS) offers three fatherhood initiatives programs to enhance the parenting of current and future fathers. At CJTS, the rehabilitation staff take the lead on these programs, with the support of clinical, medical, and residential staff. All three programs are offered year round.

April 1, 2016 (New) 83 | Page

The **Dr. Dad** program, is a curriculum available to all interested residents and focuses on critical knowledge and techniques central to childrearing. Youth do not have to be current fathers to take this course.

Topics include:

- The Well Child: Crying Flowchart, Infant Nutrition, Immunization, Temperament and more
- The Sick Child: Fevers, The Common Cold, Dehydration and more
- The Injured Child: Burns, Scrapes, Choking and more
- The Safe Child: Safety in the Car, Safety in the Kitchen, Parental Anger and more

Just Beginnings (formerly called Baby Elmo Program) is a parenting education and support program for incarcerated teen parents and their children. Through research-based parenting instruction and structured weekly visits, the program supports young parents as they become committed parents and build strong relationships with their children. The fathers have the opportunity to apply the concepts they have learned during semi-structured visits with their children. The focus of Just Beginnings is on building and maintaining a relationship between the teen parent and his child which is supplemented by the Dr. Dad materials that focus on learning more didactic parenting information. Some key objectives of the Just Beginnings program are:

- Offering parenting classes paired with visits from their child(ren)
- Curriculum designed to help teen fathers develop a positive relationship with their child

Just Beginnings teaches four important skills (attachment, following the lead, praise and labeling) that improve the connection a father feels with his child.

The Rehabilitation Therapy Department also offers a group on relationships – **Love Notes.** This is a 13-session program to help youth make wise decisions about relationships and sexual choices. The program is geared towards high risk youth aged 15 to 24 years of age who are at risk for early and unplanned pregnancy, are already a parent or are soon to be. The groups will help youth learn to make wise choices about partners, sex and relationships decisions.

Also offered is **CPR certification** (adult, infant and child) for all fathers.

April 1, 2016 (New) 84 | Page